Light Scalars at the Cosmological Collider

Priyesh Chakraborty and John Stout

Department of Physics, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA

Abstract

We study the self-energies of weakly interacting scalar fields in de Sitter space with one field much lighter than the Hubble scale. We argue that self-energies drastically simplify in this light limit. We illustrate this in theories with two scalar fields, one heavy and one light, interacting with one another through either cubic or quartic interactions. To regulate infrared divergences, we compute these self-energies in Euclidean de Sitter space and then carefully analytically continue to Lorentzian signature. In particular, we do this for the most general renormalizable theory of two scalar fields with even interactions to leading order in the coupling and the mass of the light field. These self-energies are determined by de Sitter sunset diagrams, whose analytic structure and UV divergences we derive. Even at very weak couplings, the light field can substantially change how the heavy field propagates over long distances. The light field's existence may then be inferred from how it modifies the heavy field's oscillatory contribution to the primordial bispectrum in the squeezed limit, i.e. its cosmological collider signal.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Free Fields in de Sitter Space	4
	2.1 The Geometry of de Sitter Space	4
	2.2 Free Fields from Euclidean to Lorentzian	6
	2.3 The Lorentzian Inversion Formula	8
3	Loop Corrections from a Light Scalar	12
	3.1 The Bubble	15
	3.2 The Sunset	20
4	Conclusions	26
\mathbf{A}	Formulary	28
в	Uniqueness of the Interpolation	30
\mathbf{C}	UV Divergences of de Sitter Self-Energies	32
	C.1 The Propagator	33
	C.2 The Bubble	35
	C.3 The Sunset	37
D	UV Contributions in the Light Limit	39
R	eferences	41

1 Introduction

Light, weakly-coupled scalar fields are ubiquitous in modern high energy physics. Not only do they often appear in solutions to various theoretical puzzles—for example, in the axion solution to the Strong CP problem [1-5], as viable dark matter candidates [6-10], in solutions to the electroweak hierarchy problem [11-15]—they also arise naturally, and often in great numbers, in low energy theories consistent with quantum gravity [16-18]. If such light scalars exist, they must be coupled so weakly to the Standard Model to have so far evaded detection. In light of the substantial theoretical pressure towards their existence, it is important to find new ways of detecting them and to understand their impact on other more directly observable fields. The goal, then, of this paper is to study the impact such light, weakly-coupled scalars can have on primordial cosmological signals, specifically in the very light and very weakly-coupled limit.

It is widely believed that our universe once enjoyed a phase of rapid cosmic inflation at energy scales far beyond those accessible in terrestrial experiments, with an associated Hubble scale that could have been as high as $H \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{14} \text{ GeV})$. Information about extremely high-energy processes could then be imprinted upon inflationary correlators which, in turn, would affect future observations of the cosmic microwave background and our universe's large-scale structure [19]. In particular, they would change the inferred primordial bispectrum, or equivalently the three-point function of the co-moving curvature perturbation $\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle$. This may be characterized by a dimensionless "shape" function $S(k_1, k_2, k_3)$,

$$\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle \equiv \frac{(2\pi)^4 P_{\zeta}^2}{(k_1 k_2 k_3)^2} (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)} \left(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 \right) S(k_1, k_2, k_3) , \qquad (1.1)$$

where $P_{\zeta} \simeq 2 \times 10^{-9}$ is the amplitude of the scalar power spectrum and $k_i = |\mathbf{k}_i|$. Unfortunately, because their energy is relatively small during inflation, light and weakly-coupled scalars often have a very small effect on density fluctuations [20]. Similarly, their effect on the shape $S(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ is difficult to distinguish¹ from the so-called local shape [23, 24], making their impact on inflationary correlation functions either ambiguous or unobservable.

In contrast, a heavy scalar σ , with $m_{\sigma} > \frac{3}{2}H$, imparts an unambiguous "cosmological collider" signal [23–33] onto the bispectrum in its so-called squeezed limit, $k_1 \approx k_2 \gg k_3$. Assuming that σ couples directly to the curvature perturbation ζ , it will contribute to the bispectrum via the tree-level exchange that can be depicted diagrammatically as



where the top-most grey line denotes the time at which inflation ends. This depicts a process in which two ζ curvature perturbations (in [*red*]) and a σ particle (in [*black*]) are spontaneously

¹Recent work, however, has shown that the shape function can receive important contributions from isocurvature modes excited by such light scalars [21, 22]

created from the vacuum. The σ particle then evolves freely until it eventually decays into a third ζ , ultimately correlating the fluctuations of ζ at three distinct points. In the squeezed limit, this σ particle is long-lived and freely propagates over large distances, oscillating at a frequency determined by its rest mass. It thus acquires a phase proportional to this frequency and the distance it propagates, which in turn imparts a characteristic oscillatory signature onto the shape function of the form

$$S(k_1 \approx k_2 \gg k_3) \sim \mathcal{A}\left(\frac{k_3}{k_1}\right)^{\beta} \sin\left[\omega \log\left(\frac{k_3}{k_1}\right) + \delta\right],$$
 (1.3)

where the parameters \mathcal{A} , β , ω and δ correspond to the amplitude, rate of decay, frequency, and phase of these oscillations and are all calculable given a specific model. In particular, for the treelevel exchange of a heavy scalar σ shown above, the decay rate β and frequency ω are completely controlled by how σ propagates freely in de Sitter space. The decay rate $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ is determined by how quickly fluctuations in σ dilute due to Hubble expansion and is the same for all free scalar fields, while $\omega = \sqrt{m_{\sigma}^2/H^2 - 9/4}$ is its frequency at "rest" in de Sitter.

Unfortunately, a light particle φ with mass $m_{\varphi} < \frac{3}{2}H$ that directly couples to the curvature perturbation does not impart such an oscillatory signature in bispectrum. However, even in the absence of a direct coupling to the inflaton, a light scalar φ will modify how the heavy scalar σ propagates over large distances [34], imbuing it with non-trivial self-energy. Diagrammatically, in the presence of φ the process (1.2) becomes



where we use a hatched blob to denote the exact σ propagator. Specifically, interactions with φ will cause σ to decay *faster* than any free field [35], and so $\beta > \frac{1}{2}$. Interestingly, these effects are seemingly *enhanced* as the field becomes lighter and lighter, causing a massive suppression of the cosmological collider signal as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. This enhancement, as we show in the main text, is directly tied to the behavior of the light scalar in the infrared, which is known to fluctuate violently in the limit of light mass [36–50].

To leading order in the slow roll parameter, we can extract this induced decay by studying σ 's self-energy in pure de Sitter space. The main goal of this paper is to understand how to compute the self-energies of both the heavy scalar σ and light scalar φ in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \rightarrow 0$. Interacting quantum field theory in de Sitter is a notoriously rich² subject, and many treatments are plagued by infrared divergences. We choose to work first in Euclidean de Sitter [35, 39, 51–54] in which correlations functions are free of infrared divergences and then analytically continue to Lorentzian signature. This analytic continuation is subtle [55] but can be done via the Froissart-Gribov inversion formula [56–61] and we explain how to take advantage of the small parameter m_{φ}/H in

²This may be interpreted as a euphemism for "complicated."

making cosmological predictions. We explain how to efficiently extract physical predictions from this formula, and find that the self-energies induced by cubic and quartic interactions drastically simplify in the limit $m_{\varphi} \rightarrow 0$, though our methods are straightforwardly applicable to any twovertex loop diagram. Furthermore, we explain how to efficiently extract the singularity structure of, and thus physically meaningful information from, these diagrams. This is especially useful as the complete analytic expressions can be exceedingly complex (see, e.g. [35]). We will argue that, in this light limit, only a few of these singularities are needed to determine the infrared behavior of two-point functions in de Sitter. We also explain how to extract the ultraviolet divergences of these contributions, and do so for the two-loop "sunset" diagram. Our perturbative approximations can only be trusted at suitably weak couplings, in a sense that we make precise in the main text, and so our results only apply to light fields that are also very weakly coupled.

Outline In Section 2, we review the basic properties of free scalar fields in de Sitter space. Specifically, in §2.1, we first describe the geometry of D-dimensional de Sitter space in Euclidean and Lorentzian signatures. Free fields in Euclidean de Sitter space permit a useful momentum space representation in terms of the hyperspherical harmonics, which we review in §2.2. There, we use this representation to derive the free field propagator and discuss its analytic continuation from Euclidean signature to Lorentzian signature, via the Watson-Sommerfeld transformation. This transformation requires that one use the "correct" momentum space representation of a correlator, and we explain in §2.3 how this is provided by the Froissart-Gribov or Lorentzian inversion formula, illustrating its use by applying it to the free field propagator.

Our main results appear in Section 3. After reviewing general aspects of two-point functions of interacting quantum fields in de Sitter, we derive the self-energy of a heavy scalar σ induced by a cubic interaction with a light scalar φ in §3.1 and explain how it simplifies in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \to 0$. This section is meant to illustrate the techniques we use, and so we only study a particular contribution to the self-energy, the so-called bubble diagram. In §3.2, we study the most general (renormalizable) theory of a heavy scalar σ interacting with a light scalar φ , with a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ global symmetry $\sigma \to -\sigma$ and $\varphi \to -\varphi$. We derive the self-energies of both σ and φ to leading order in perturbation theory. These are determined by the so-called sunset diagram which we study in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. Finally, we present our conclusions and mention some future directions in Section 4.

In Appendix A, we have collected various definitions and conventions for the special functions we use in the main text. In Appendix B, we discuss the uniqueness of the interpolations used in the analytic continuation of two-point functions from Euclidean to Lorentzian signature. Appendix C computes the UV divergences for both the bubble and sunset diagrams in dimensional regularization via the Mellin-Barnes representation of the self-energy and contains several new results. These are used in §3.1 and §3.2 to set the kinetic and mass counterterms for σ and φ . Finally, in Appendix D, we analyze the ultraviolet contributions to the self-energies and argue that they are subleading to the infrared contributions as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$.

2 Free Fields in de Sitter Space

We will study interacting quantum fields in *D*-dimensional de Sitter space and, in particular, how interactions with a light field φ affect the long-distance propagation of a heavy field σ . These theories we consider will have Euclidean actions of the form

$$S_{\rm E} = \int {\rm d}^D x \, \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial \sigma)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m_\sigma^2 \sigma^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\partial \varphi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m_\varphi^2 \varphi^2 \right] + S_{\rm int}$$
(2.1)

with $(\partial \sigma)^2 = g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \partial_{\nu} \sigma$ while S_{int} encodes the interactions between the two fields. As discussed in [35, 51, 52], we may define the de Sitter correlation functions of these fields by first computing them in Euclidean signature and then appropriately analytically continuing them to Lorentzian signature. The goal of this section is to review how free fields in de Sitter behave and explain how this analytic continuation works as a way of setting the stage for our loop calculations. We first review the geometry of de Sitter space in both signatures in §2.1, and then discuss basic properties of de Sitter free fields in §2.2. There exists a useful "momentum space" representation of observables in terms of the hyperspherical harmonics—their analytic continuation to Lorentzian signature requires the use of the Froissart-Gribov inversion formula, which we discuss in §2.3.

2.1 The Geometry of de Sitter Space

In Lorentzian signature, *D*-dimensional de Sitter space is defined as the maximally symmetric space with positive constant curvature, and has isometry group SO(D, 1). In global coordinates, its metric is given by

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \ell^2 \left[-\mathrm{d}t^2 + \cosh^2 t \,\mathrm{d}\Omega_d \right] \tag{2.2}$$

where $d\Omega_d^2 = d\theta_1^2 + \sin^2 \theta_1 d\Omega_{d-1}^2$ is the standard round metric on the *d*-dimensional sphere, with $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{d-2} \in [0, \pi]$ and $\theta_{d-1} \in [0, 2\pi)$, while $t \in \mathbb{R}$ [35, 62, 63]. We will find it extremely convenient to introduce the shorthand $\alpha = d/2$, as it will simplify many expressions. The radius of curvature ℓ is determined by the Hubble constant $\ell = H^{-1}$. It will also be convenient to measure all quantities in terms of this radius of curvature, and so we thus set $\ell = 1.^3$ Of course, dimensions can be restored in any expression by restoring appropriate powers of ℓ .

The main goal of this paper is to compute loop corrections induced by a light scalar φ on a heavy scalar σ . However, such corrections are plagued by IR divergences in Lorentzian signature which make it difficult to extract physical predictions. As discussed in [35, 51], we can instead compute these loop corrections in Euclidean de Sitter space, which is simply the sphere S^D equipped with the standard round metric

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}\Omega_D^2 = \mathrm{d}\tau^2 + \sin^2\tau\,\mathrm{d}\Omega_d^2\,. \tag{2.3}$$

Generally, we will parameterize a point x in this (d + 1)-dimensional sphere in terms of its τ coordinate and a unit vector **x** on the d-dimensional sub-sphere, $x = (\tau, \mathbf{x})$, with $|\mathbf{x}|^2 = 1$. All

³This also has the effect of setting our renormalization group scale (often denoted μ) to the Hubble scale $H = \ell^{-1}$, as we only analytically continue dimensionless quantities that are made so by multiplying by appropriate factors of ℓ .

potential IR divergences are automatically regulated by the finite volume of the sphere, and so—up to UV divergences that can be renormalized away—these loop corrections are finite and physical. We may then analytically continue the loop-corrected Euclidean correlation functions to a Lorentzian correlation function⁴ by taking $\tau \rightarrow it + \frac{\pi}{2}$ with an appropriate *i* ε -prescription to specify an operator ordering [35]. It is particularly natural to use Euclidean de Sitter to study the dynamics of light fields since it explicitly isolates the mode that causes physical results to diverge in the massless limit.

Any function of two points on the sphere that is invariant under the SO(D + 1) isometry group, and thus any de Sitter-invariant two-point function, may be written in terms of the socalled *embedding distance*,⁵

$$\xi_{12} \equiv \xi(x_1, x_2) = \cos \tau_1 \cos \tau_2 + \sin \tau_1 \sin \tau_2 \left(\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{x}_2 \right), \tag{2.4}$$

where $\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{x}_2$ is the standard dot product in \mathbb{R}^D . Specifically, if we embed the S^D into \mathbb{R}^{D+1} , the embedding distance ξ is the cosine of the angle subtended by the great arc connecting the two points. We will drop the subscripts $\xi_{12} \to \xi$ when there is no chance of ambiguity.

In Euclidean signature, this embedding distance is constrained to the interval $\xi \in [-1, 1]$ while upon analytic continuation to Lorentzian signature, $\tau_i \to it_i + \frac{\pi}{2}$, it takes values on the entire real line $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. The coincident limit $x_1 \to x_2$ corresponds to $\xi \to 1$, and this is also true for points connected by a null geodesic in Lorentzian signature. Furthermore, $|\xi| < 1$ or $\xi > 1$ if the two points are connected by a spacelike or timelike geodesic, respectively. Finally, points with $\xi < -1$ are not connected by a geodesic. This limit is particularly important for cosmological observations, as taking two points to future infinity with fixed spatial separation corresponds to the limit $\xi \to -\infty$.

Finally, we will find it convenient to simplify many expressions like (A.12) by instead working in terms of the variable⁶

$$\zeta = \frac{2}{\xi - 1},\tag{2.5}$$

in which the limits $\xi \to \pm \infty$ correspond to $\zeta \to 0^{\pm}$. Because of its relationship to the long-time or long-distance limit, we will refer to the region $|\zeta| \in [0, 1)$ as the "infrared." Likewise, we will call $|\zeta| \in [1, \infty)$ the "ultraviolet."

⁴Euclidean-signature Feynman diagrams will converge to define an interacting SO(D+1)-invariant state on the sphere as long as the linearized field theory admits an SO(D+1)-invariant propagator, which will be the case as long as our scalar fields both have non-zero mass. The correlators in this state will thus be invariant under the isometries of Euclidean de Sitter space and will satisfy the Euclidean Schwinger-Dyson equations. Upon analytic continuation to Lorentzian signature, these correlators will automatically be SO(D, 1)-invariant and satisfy the Lorentzian Schwinger-Dyson equations, thus defining a consistent de Sitter-invariant state and correlators.

⁵This embedding distance is also called Z by [35], σ by [57], and s by [58].

⁶Not to be confused with the comoving curvature perturbation $\zeta_{\mathbf{k}}$.

2.2 Free Fields from Euclidean to Lorentzian

One very nice feature of Euclidean de Sitter space is that there exists a useful momentum space representation of scalar fields in terms of the hyperspherical harmonics,

$$\sigma(x) = \sum_{\mathbf{J}} \sigma_{\mathbf{J}} Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x) \,. \tag{2.6}$$

These harmonics are the *D*-dimensional analogs of the familiar spherical harmonics. They are labeled by an integer vector $\mathbf{J} = (J, m_1, \dots, m_d)$, where $J \in \mathbb{N}$ is a non-negative integer $(J = 0, 1, \dots)$ and $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, m_2, \dots, m_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ are a set of integers such that $J \ge m_1 \ge m_2 \ge \dots \ge |m_d|$. Most importantly, they diagonalize the Laplacian on the sphere S^D ,

$$\nabla^2 Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x) = -J(J+d)Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x), \qquad (2.7)$$

where we call J and \mathbf{m} the total angular momentum quantum number and magnetic quantum numbers, respectively. We will not need the explicit forms for these harmonics, though a special role will be played by the zero mode with $\mathbf{J} = 0$,

$$Y_0(x) = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\operatorname{vol} S^D}}$$
(2.8)

which is just a constant profile on the sphere with amplitude determined by the volume of S^{D} .

These hyperspherical harmonics are orthonormal and complete,

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}^D} \mathrm{d}\Omega_D \, Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x) Y_{\mathbf{K}}^*(x) = \delta_{\mathbf{J}\mathbf{K}} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{\mathbf{J}} Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x) Y_{\mathbf{J}}^*(y) = \delta^{(D)}(x-y)/\sqrt{g} \,, \tag{2.9}$$

and so the momentum space representation of a function of a single point on the sphere can be easily found by computing, for example, $\sigma_{\mathbf{J}} = \int d\Omega_D \,\sigma(x) Y_{\mathbf{J}}^*(x)$. Usefully, the sum over magnetic quantum numbers

$$\sum_{\mathbf{m}} Y_{J\mathbf{m}}(x) Y_{J\mathbf{m}}^*(y) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} (J+\alpha) C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) , \qquad (2.10)$$

Since any de Sitter-invariant two-point function H(x, y) is necessarily a function of the embedding distance $\xi(x, y)$, by completeness its harmonic decomposition will only depend on the total angular momentum J,

$$H(x,y) = \sum_{\mathbf{J}} [H]_J Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x) Y_{\mathbf{J}}^*(y) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} (J+\alpha) [H]_J C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) \,.$$
(2.11)

For integer J, the coefficients $[H]_J$ may be extracted by the "Euclidean" inversion formula,

$$[H]_{J} = \frac{(4\pi)^{\alpha} \Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathrm{d}\xi \left(1-\xi^{2}\right)^{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} C_{J}^{\alpha}(\xi) H(\xi) \,.$$
(2.12)

Strictly speaking, the expansion (2.11) only converges when the inversion formula (2.12) does.

Analogously, since $C_J^{\alpha}(-1) \sim J^{2\alpha-1}$ as $J \to \infty$, these expansions only converge if $[H]_J$ decays faster than $1/J^{2\alpha+1}$ as $J \to \infty$. Generally, these conditions will not be satisfied for most of the functions we work with in four dimensions, $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$. We will instead keep $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(3-\epsilon)$ arbitrary throughout our calculations and use dimensional regularization to remove any ϵ -divergences, *defining* these functions via analytic continuation in α .

The hyperspherical harmonics can allow us to easily determine the propagator G(x, y) for a free field with mass m. This propagator obeys the Klein-Gordon equation

$$(-\nabla^2 + m^2)G(x, y) = \delta^{(D)}(x - y)/\sqrt{g}, \qquad (2.13)$$

which, using (2.7) and (2.9), can be solved to find

$$G(x,y) = \sum_{\mathbf{J}} \frac{Y_{\mathbf{J}}(x)Y_{\mathbf{J}}^{*}(y)}{J(J+2\alpha) + m^{2}} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} \frac{J+\alpha}{J(J+2\alpha) + m^{2}} C_{J}^{\alpha}(\xi_{xy}).$$
(2.14)

The propagator in momentum space is thus

$$[G]_J = \frac{1}{J(J+2\alpha) + m^2} = \frac{1}{(J+\Delta)(J+\bar{\Delta})},$$
(2.15)

the poles of which are determined by the so-called scaling dimension of the field,

$$\Delta = \begin{cases} \alpha + i\sqrt{m^2 - \alpha^2}, & m \ge \alpha \\ \alpha - \sqrt{\alpha^2 - m^2}, & m < \alpha \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

and its conjugate or *shadow* dimension $\overline{\Delta} \equiv d - \Delta$. A "heavy" scalar field, with mass $m \geq \alpha$ is said to belong to the *principal series* with dimension $\Delta = \alpha + i\nu, \nu \in \mathbb{R}$. Likewise, a "light" scalar field, with $m < \alpha$, is said to belong to the *complementary series* with $\Delta \in (0, \alpha)$. Specifically, the single-particle states created by these fields fall into irreducible representations of de Sitter's SO(D, 1) isometry group, of which there are two continuous families called the principal and complementary series.⁷

Unfortunately, this representation is useless if we are interested in the propagator in Lorentzian signature, since each term in the sum diverges as ξ^J as $|\xi| \to \infty$. To analytically continue this expression to $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, we can make use of the Watson-Sommerfeld transform, in which we rewrite a sum $\sum_{J=0}^{\infty} s(J)$ as a contour integral over the product of a "kernel" $k(J) = -e^{i\pi J}\Gamma(-J)\Gamma(J+1)$ with unit residue poles at the non-negative integers and a meromorphic "interpolation" $\tilde{s}(J) \propto (J+\alpha)[G]_J$ which agrees with s(J) at the integers and continues it to complex J. For (2.14), this takes the form

$$G(\xi) = \frac{(-1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{\Gamma(2\alpha)} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}J}{2\pi i} \Gamma(-J)\Gamma(J+2\alpha)(J+\alpha) \left[G\right]_{J\,2} F_1 \begin{bmatrix} -J, \ J+2\alpha \\ \alpha+\frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \left[\frac{1+\xi}{2}\right] . \tag{2.17}$$

⁷There is a third series, the *discrete series*, with non-negative integer dimension $\Delta \in \mathbb{N}$, which includes exactly massless and tachyonic fields. Since we always work with fields of finite (albeit potentially small) and non-negative m^2 , we will not consider discrete series fields here.

The contour \mathcal{C} sandwiches the positive real axis, enclosing the poles at the non-negative integers $J \in \mathbb{N}$ in a counterclockwise fashion. This integral representation again only converges for $\xi \in [-1, 1]$, but we can derive a convergent integral expression for $\xi \in \mathbb{C}/[-1, \infty)$ by deforming the contour \mathcal{C} to lie parallel to the imaginary axis, cf. Appendix B. Crucially, the integrand (2.17) is well-behaved as $|J| \to \infty$, decaying as $\exp(-\pi |\operatorname{Im} J|)$ as $|\operatorname{Im} J| \to \infty$, and analytic away from the real axis, so we do not pick up any additional contributions as we deform the contour in this way as long as we do not shift it too far to the left. Thus, (2.17) defines an analytic continuation of the series (2.14) to Lorentzian signature.

The integrand in (2.17) has poles at $J \in \mathbb{N}$, $J \in -2\alpha - \mathbb{N}$, and at the poles of (2.15). It is also odd under $J \to -(J + 2\alpha)$, so by deforming \mathcal{C} so that it passes through the fixed point of this transformation $J = -\alpha$ [35], we can make use of this antisymmetry to force the integral to vanish. However, to do this we must always encircle one of the poles of (2.15), and so the free field propagator reduces to the residue of this pole,

$$G(\xi) = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(\bar{\Delta})}{(4\pi)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}\Gamma(\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} {}_{2}F_1\left(\Delta,\bar{\Delta};\alpha+\frac{1}{2};\frac{1}{2}(1+\xi)\right).$$
(2.18)

The free field propagator (2.18) is analytic for all ξ aside from a branch cut along $\xi \in [1, \infty)$ or, in terms of our ζ variable (2.5), $\zeta \in [0, \infty)$. It will be helpful to rewrite the propagator in the form

$$G(\zeta) = \mathcal{G}_{\Delta}(\zeta) + \mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}}(\zeta) = \mathcal{A}(\Delta)(-1/\zeta)^{-\Delta}{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta, \ \Delta - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\\2\Delta - 2\alpha + 1\end{bmatrix} - \zeta \end{bmatrix} + (\Delta \to \bar{\Delta}), \qquad (2.19)$$

with coefficient

$$\mathcal{A}(\Delta) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(2\alpha - 2\Delta)}{\Gamma(\alpha + \frac{1}{2} - \Delta)}.$$
(2.20)

It is clear from this expression that the dimension Δ , and thus the field's mass, controls the asymptotic behavior of the free propagator for very large separations $\zeta \to 0$ or as $\xi \to \pm \infty$.

2.3 The Lorentzian Inversion Formula

While the momentum space representation in Euclidean signature is an extremely useful tool, it can be nontrivial to extract physics in Lorentzian signature from it. As we saw for the propagator (2.14), the core issue is that these momentum space expressions cannot be analytically continued term-by-term, but we must instead rely on the Watson-Sommerfeld transformation to continue the entire sum away from $\xi \in [-1, 1]$. As we discussed, this transformation proceeds by first identifying a meromorphic interpolation $\tilde{s}(J)$ that agrees with the summand s(J) at all positive integers and extends it to arbitrary complex values. We then recast the sum as a contour integral over J, deforming the contour so that the resulting expression is absolutely convergent for Lorentzian separations. There are infinitely many such interpolations but, fortunately, there is only one well-behaved enough as $|J| \to \infty$ to enable this analytic continuation. Given a function $H(\xi)$, how do we determine this *correct* momentum space representation $[H]_J$? How do we invert expressions like (2.17)? This is the role of the Lorentzian inversion formula, which we describe and illustrate in this section. The ambiguity in the interpolation is easy to see—given any interpolation $\tilde{s}(J)$ of the summand s(J), we can add to it an *arbitrary* analytic function multiplied by $\sin \pi J$ and it will still agree with the summand s(J) at the integers. However, this will always mess up the behavior of $\tilde{s}(J)$ as $|J| \to \infty$, causing it to diverge at least as fast as $\propto e^{\pi |J|}$. As we describe in more detail in Appendix B, this would make the interpolation completely useless for analytic continuation from Euclidean to Lorentzian signature. So, if we also require that the interpolation $\tilde{s}(J)$ does not diverge as $|J| \to \infty$, Carlson's theorem⁸ guarantees that this interpolation is *unique*, see e.g. [61]. Thus, while there may be infinitely many interpolations of the summand s(J), there is only one which should be used to analytically continue the sum beyond its domain of convergence.

Thus, we should understand how to compute this correct interpolation given a function $H(\xi)$ defined, aside from possible singularities and branch cuts, on $\xi \in \mathbb{C}$. The Euclidean inversion formula (2.12) cannot work because the Gegenbauer-C functions behave very poorly away from the real *J*-axis, growing exponentially as $|\text{Im } J| \to \infty$. For instance, $C_J^{\alpha}(-1) \propto \exp(\pi |\text{Im } J|)$ as $\text{Im } J \to \infty$, cf. (A.8), and so the $[H]_J$ provided by (2.12) behave very poorly for complex *J* and thus yields one of the wrong interpolations. Instead, the appropriate interpolation is provided by the Froissart-Gribov formula [56, 57, 59, 61], which defines $[H]_J$ as

$$[H]_J = \frac{(4\pi)^{\alpha} \Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)} \oint_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{d\xi}{2\pi i} \left(\xi^2 - 1\right)^{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi) H(\xi) \,. \tag{2.21}$$

The contour C is taken to wrap the interval $\xi \in [-1, 1]$ counterclockwise, while the $Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ are the Gegenbauer Q-functions defined in (A.12).

Let us justify this expression. The Gegenbauer Q-functions $Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ satisfy the same differential equation (A.5) as the Gegenbauer *C*-functions $C_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ and have a branch cut along $\xi \in [-1, 1]$. While we could have chosen any linear combination of $C_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ and $Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ and written a formula analogous to (2.21) that agrees with (2.12) for non-negative integer *J*, the trick is that $Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ are the *unique* solutions to the Gegenbauer differential equation which *decay* as $\xi^{-J-2\alpha}$ as $\xi \to \infty$, and so the interpolation defined by (2.21) necessarily decays as Re $J \to \infty$. By Carlson's theorem, (2.21) is then the unique well-behaved extension of (2.12) from the integers to complex *J*, and is the one relevant for physics in Lorentzian signature.

The functions we work with will all have a discontinuity along $\xi \in [1, \infty)$, and so we may deform the contour⁹ in (2.21) so that it becomes an integral over the discontinuity of H(z),

$$[H]_{J} = -\frac{2\pi^{\alpha+1}\Gamma(J+1)}{4^{J}\Gamma(J+\alpha+1)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{2\pi i} \zeta^{J-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \operatorname{disc} H(\zeta), \qquad (2.22)$$

⁸Carlson's theorem states that, if f(z) is regular in the right half plane Re z > 0 and $|f(z)| \le Ce^{k|z|}$ with C > 0 and $k < \pi$, and if f(z) = 0 for z = 0, 1, 2, ..., then $f(z) \equiv 0$ is identically zero.

⁹Technically, (2.21) only applies to functions which are analytic in a region around the interval $\xi \in [-1, 1]$. This is not the case for the functions we consider, which have a discontinuity along $\xi \in [1, \infty)$, and is related to the fact that (products of) the propagator diverge in the coincident limit $\xi \to 1$, causing their spectral representations to converge poorly. As is clear from (A.8), the convergence of these series is strongly dependent on α , and so we will work at small enough α so that (2.22) applies and then *define* the $[H]_J$ at $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ by analytic continuation. Of course, these will often diverge as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$, but these are the typical divergences one encounters in any loop calculation and may be absorbed by local counterterms.

with the discontinuity defined as

disc
$$H(\zeta) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} H(\zeta + i\epsilon) - H(\zeta - i\epsilon)$$
. (2.23)

The inversion formula (2.22) is the main tool we will use in this work—it defines the momentum space representation of $H(\xi)$ as long as Re J is large enough and α is small enough so that the integral converges at its endpoints $\zeta \to 0$ and $\zeta \to \infty$, respectively.

It will be useful to illustrate the inversion formula (2.22) by applying it to the propagator (2.19). The discontinuity of the propagator along $\zeta \in [0, \infty)$ is given by

disc
$$G(\zeta) = -\frac{2\pi i}{(4\pi)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}} \frac{\zeta^{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha)} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - \Delta, \ \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - \bar{\Delta} \\ \frac{3}{2} - \alpha \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{\zeta} \end{bmatrix}$$
. (2.24)

The integral (2.22) can be explicitly evaluated by a computer algebra system to again yield (2.15),

$$[G]_J = \frac{1}{(J+\Delta)(J+\bar{\Delta})},$$
 (2.25)

extending (2.22) to arbitrary complex J and arbitrary α . However, it will be more helpful to evaluate (2.22) in a way more readily applicable to cases in which an exact answer is not known, or is too complicated to be useful.

For example, throughout this paper we will be interested in expanding integrals like (2.22) order-by-order in the mass of a field or, analogously, order-by-order in Δ . Already from (2.25), it is clear that this expansion can be complicated by the fact that singularities of $[H]_J$ may depend on the dimension Δ , and an expansion in Δ may depend sensitively on J. It will thus be helpful to rewrite (2.22) in a way that both analytically continues it to arbitrary J and identifies any potential singularities.

By use of a Kummer relation, the discontinuity (2.24) can be written in a form that evokes (2.19),

disc
$$G(\zeta) = -\frac{2\pi i}{(4\pi)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(2\alpha - 2\Delta)}{\Gamma(1 - \Delta)\Gamma(\alpha + \frac{1}{2} - \Delta)} \zeta^{\Delta}{}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta, \ \Delta - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta - 2\alpha + 1 \end{bmatrix} - \zeta \end{bmatrix} + (\Delta \to \bar{\Delta}) .$$
 (2.26)

The benefit of this form is that it makes it clear why (2.22) generates a pole at both $J = -\Delta$ and $J = -\overline{\Delta}$. We have

$$[G]_J = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta-1} \,_2F_1 \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] \,_2F_1 \begin{bmatrix} \Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] + (\Delta \to \bar{\Delta})$$
(2.27)

where we have defined the coefficient

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta} = \frac{1}{2^{2J+2\Delta+1}} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} J+1, \, \alpha - \Delta \\ J+\alpha+1, \, 1-\Delta \end{bmatrix} \,. \tag{2.28}$$

When $J = -\Delta$, the integrand in (2.27) behaves as ζ^{-1} as $\zeta \to 0$ since ${}_2F_1(a, b; c; -\zeta) \sim 1 + \mathcal{O}(\zeta)$, and so the integral diverges in the infrared. Indeed, we can analytically continue (2.22) to arbitrary J by splitting the integral into an infrared contribution sensitive to the long-distance $|\xi| \to \infty$ ($\zeta \to 0$) behavior of the propagator and an "ultraviolet" contribution sensitive to the short-distance $\zeta \to \infty$ behavior,

$$[G]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta} \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] + \cdots \quad (2.29)$$

where the \cdots denotes the contribution from the shadow $\Delta \to \overline{\Delta}$, while the UV contribution $[G]_J^{UV} = [G]_J - [G]_J^{IR}$ has the same integrand but is instead integrated over $\zeta \in [1, \infty)$.

Since the integrand is a regular function for all J and $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$, the only way the integral could develop a singularity in J is if the integrand diverges in a J-dependent way at one of its endpoints, $\zeta = 0$ or $\zeta = \infty$. As we also discuss in Appendix D, the integrand is regular in Jas $\zeta \to \infty$ if we include the coefficient (2.28), and so the only way a singularity can develop is if the integrand diverges as $\zeta \to 0$. It is then trivial to isolate the singularities of $[G]_J$ and compute their residues by series expanding the integrand in $[G]_J^{IR}$ about $\zeta = 0$ and then integrating term-by-term. This is a technique that we will rely on throughout this work.

Since the integral (2.29) is over $\zeta \in [0, 1]$, we have no problem in replacing the integrand with its series expansion around $\zeta = 0$ since it has radius of convergence $|\zeta| = 1$,

$$\zeta^{J+\Delta-1}{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\2J+2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\2\Delta-2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k}(J,\Delta)\zeta^{J+\Delta+k-1}. \quad (2.30)$$

The series coefficients are explicitly given by

$$c_{k}(J,\Delta) = \frac{(-1)^{k}4^{\Delta-\alpha}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta+k, \ \Delta-\alpha+1, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}+k \\ k+1, \ \Delta, \ 2\Delta-2\alpha+1+k \end{bmatrix} \times {}_{4}F_{3} \begin{bmatrix} J+1, -k, \ J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ 2\alpha-2\Delta-k \\ 2J+2\alpha+1, \ 1-\Delta-k, \ \alpha+\frac{1}{2}-\Delta-k \end{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.31)

Integrating term-by-term we find that $[G]_J^{\text{IR}}$ has a infinite number of potential poles at $J = -\Delta - k$ and $J = -\bar{\Delta} - k$, for positive integer $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$[G]_J^{\rm IR} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{c_k(J,\Delta)}{J+\Delta+k} + (\Delta \to \bar{\Delta}), \qquad (2.32)$$

but since $c_k(-[\Delta + k], \Delta) = \delta_{k,0}$, the only poles with non-vanishing residue are those at $J = -\Delta$ and $J = -\overline{\Delta}$, with residues $\mathcal{N}_{-\Delta,\Delta} = 1/(2\alpha - \Delta)$ and $\mathcal{N}_{-\overline{\Delta},\overline{\Delta}} = 1/(2\alpha - \overline{\Delta})$ respectively. The rest are then "spurious" in the language of [59]. Since $[G]_J^{UV}$ is necessarily regular in J, we may then write

$$[G]_J = \frac{1}{(J+\Delta)(J+\bar{\Delta})} + f(J)$$
(2.33)

with f(J) is some entire function. But since $[G]_J \to 0$ as $\operatorname{Re} J \to +\infty$, this entire function must also vanish as $|J| \to \infty$ and thus f(J) = 0. $[G]_J$ is thus completely determined by its singularities, which can be easily extracted from (2.29). In the next section, we will find that a similar structure appears when analyzing the self-energy of a heavy field σ in the presence of a light field φ . Fortunately, corrections to the long-distance behavior of the two-point function $\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\rangle$ will be dominated by only one singularity (and its shadow) and thus the strategy outlined above provides an extremely efficient way of extracting corrections in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$.

3 Loop Corrections from a Light Scalar

Having reviewed the basics of free de Sitter quantum field theory in both Euclidean and Lorenztian signatures, we are now ready to include interactions. The main goal of this paper is to determine how an interaction with a light scalar field φ , with mass m_{φ} , corrects the two-point function $\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\rangle$ of a heavy scalar field σ , with mass m_{σ} , in the limit that $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. Specifically, we will work with actions of the form

$$S_{\rm E} = \int \mathrm{d}^D x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial \sigma)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m_\sigma^2 \sigma^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\partial \varphi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m_\varphi^2 \varphi^2 + \mathcal{L}_{\rm int} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm ct} \right] , \qquad (3.1)$$

where \mathcal{L}_{int} is the interaction Lagrangian and \mathcal{L}_{ct} is the counterterm Lagrangian. We consider cubic and quartic interactions in §3.1 and §3.2, respectively, though it will be helpful to discuss general aspects of perturbation theory first.

We organize corrections to the two-point functions $\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\rangle$ and $\langle \varphi(x)\varphi(y)\rangle$ diagrammatically. We denote the free-field propagators of σ and φ by $G^{\sigma}(\xi)$ and $G^{\varphi}(\xi)$, respectively, and their dimensions as Δ_{σ} and Δ_{φ} . We represent σ by black lines and φ by blue lines,

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
 & & & & \\
 & & & & \\
 & & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & & \\
 & & &$$

with associated counterterm vertices from $\mathcal{L}_{ct} \supset \frac{1}{2} \delta_{Z_{\sigma}} (\partial \sigma)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{Z_{\varphi}} (\partial \varphi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{m_{\sigma}} \sigma^2 + \frac{1}{2} \delta_{m_{\varphi}} \varphi^2$, which account for mass and wavefunction renormalization and whose Feynman rules we display in momentum space. In position space, each vertex is associated with an integral over the *D*dimensional unit sphere which we write in shorthand as $\int_{S^D} d^D z_i \sqrt{g(z_i)} \equiv \int d^D z_i$ suppressing the metric factor, with z_i always representing integration dummy variables. Finally, open circles like • represent external legs at coordinates labeled by x_i or, when there are only two, x and y.

As usual, corrections to the two-point function can be organized in terms of the self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$, which is defined by the sum over all one-particle irreducible (1PI) diagrams. We denote the selfenergy as

$$- \bigcup_{\mathbf{J}} - = \Pi_{\sigma}(z_1, z_2) = \sum_{\mathbf{J}} \Pi_{\sigma}(J) Y_{\mathbf{J}}(z_1) Y_{\mathbf{J}}^*(z_2) , \qquad (3.3)$$

and it can be computed order-by-order in perturbation theory in Euclidean signature and then appropriately analytically continued to non-integer J, or Lorentzian signature, by using (2.22).¹⁰

¹⁰Strictly speaking, we only require that inversion of the full two-point function $[\sigma\sigma]_J$ be well-behaved as $J \to \infty$ to be able to perform the Watson-Sommerfeld transform and analytically continue the Euclidean de Sitter result

Diagrammatically, the exact two-point function is then given by

which forms a geometric series that can be subsequently summed to yield

$$\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\rangle = \frac{(-1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{\Gamma(2\alpha)} \oint_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}J}{2\pi i} \frac{\Gamma(-J)\Gamma(J+2\alpha)(J+\alpha)}{(J+\Delta_{\sigma})(J+\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}) - \Pi_{\sigma}(J)} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} -J, \ J+2\alpha \\ \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \left[\frac{1+\xi}{2} \right] . \tag{3.5}$$

Following [35], the asymptotic behavior of (3.5) at future infinity and fixed spatial separation, $\xi \to -\infty$, and thus the physical mass of the field,¹¹ is controlled by the pole J_* of the integrand,

 $(J_* + \Delta_\sigma)(J_* + \bar{\Delta}_\sigma) - \Pi_\sigma(J_*) = 0, \qquad (3.6)$

with maximal real part.

For a weakly interacting heavy field σ , there is a pair of poles with largest real part, one the complex conjugate of the other, which we denote as J_* and \bar{J}_* . At future infinity, the heavy field propagator thus behaves as $\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\rangle \sim C_1(-2\xi)^{J_*} + C_2(-2\xi)^{\bar{J}_*}$ as $\xi \to -\infty$ for some constants C_1 and C_2 . For free fields, $\Pi_{\sigma}(J) = 0$ and so $J_* = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ and $\bar{J}_* = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$, while at leading order in perturbation theory the non-zero self-energy shifts the pole to

$$J_* \approx -\Delta_{\sigma} - \frac{\Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma})}{\Delta_{\sigma} - \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}, \qquad (3.7)$$

with \bar{J}_* given by the conjugate of this expression, or by taking $\Delta_{\sigma} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$. Specifically, decomposing the pole into its real and imaginary parts,

$$J_* \approx -\left[\alpha + \frac{\operatorname{Im}\Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma})}{2\sqrt{m_{\sigma}^2 - \alpha^2}}\right] - i\left[\sqrt{m_{\sigma}^2 - \alpha^2} + \frac{\operatorname{Re}\Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma})}{2\sqrt{m_{\sigma}^2 - \alpha^2}}\right].$$
(3.8)

we find that the real part of the self-energy affects the physically-measured mass of σ , while its imaginary part changes the decay of the correlator at long distances. We will work in an "on-shell" mass renormalization scheme in which m_{σ} is σ 's physically-measured mass, and so we adjust our counterterms so that

$$\operatorname{Im} J_* = -\sqrt{m_\sigma^2 - \alpha^2}, \qquad (3.9)$$

or equivalently, to first order in perturbation theory, $\operatorname{Re} \Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma}) = 0$. The shift in J_* 's real part is a purely physical effect that cannot be mimicked in free field theory. Furthermore, to ensure that the two-point function is properly normalized in the long-distance limit, we require that the residue of this pole is unchanged and thus $\Pi'_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma}) = 0$.

to Lorentzian signature. However, the same should be true for the self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$, which should also be wellbehaved as $J \to \infty$, since there is an order-by-order equivalence between in-in perturbation theory and Euclidean perturbation theory [52].

¹¹This is familiar from quantum field theory in flat space, where the poles of the momentum space propagator $G(k) = 1/(k^2 + m^2 - \Pi(k^2))$, with $\Pi(k^2)$ the self-energy, control the long-distance behavior of the position space propagator, and thus provides a physical notion of mass in the interacting theory.

A weakly interacting light field φ only has one pole with largest real part, which we again denote as J_* . As for the heavy field, $J_* = -\Delta_{\varphi}$ in the free theory, while at leading order in perturbation theory a non-zero self-energy $\Pi_{\varphi}(J)$ corrects this to

$$J_* \approx -\Delta_{\varphi} - \frac{\Pi_{\varphi}(-\Delta_{\varphi})}{\Delta_{\varphi} - \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}.$$
(3.10)

We will find that $\Pi_{\varphi}(-\Delta_{\varphi})$ is purely real. If we define the physically-measured mass of a light field by $J_* \equiv -\alpha + \sqrt{\alpha^2 - m_{\varphi}^2}$, thus working in an on-shell renormalization scheme, this requires that we choose our counterterms such that $\Pi_{\varphi}(-\Delta_{\varphi}) = 0$. So, unlike the heavy field, a non-zero self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ does not result in a measurable effect as $\xi \to -\infty$.

Finally, before we move on to our specific examples, it will be useful to discuss the general strategy we will use for simplifying self-energy corrections in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. The self-energies we study will be expressed in terms of the inversion formula (2.22) applied to products of σ and φ propagators. As discussed in §2.2, the free field propagator can be decomposed into a sum (2.19) of terms with definite scaling behavior in the infrared,

$$G(\zeta) = \mathcal{G}_{\Delta}(\zeta) + \mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}}(\zeta) \sim \mathcal{A}(\Delta)(-1/\zeta)^{-\Delta} + \mathcal{A}(\bar{\Delta})(-1/\zeta)^{-\bar{\Delta}}, \quad \zeta \to 0, \quad (3.11)$$

where $\mathcal{A}(\Delta) \propto \Gamma(\Delta) \sim \Delta^{-1}$ as $\Delta \to 0$ is given by (2.20). Our self-energies will then be sums of terms like $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}]_J$ and $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}]_J$. As we will show in this section, and as we might expect from our analysis of the propagator in §2.3, a term like $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}]_J$ contributes "potential" poles to the self-energy at $J = -(\Delta_{\varphi} + \Delta_{\sigma} + k)$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$, whose residues may be zero (i.e. the so-called "spurious poles" of [59]) but are proportional to $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\sigma}) \propto \Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(\Delta_{\sigma})$.

Since we are interested in how the light scalar φ affects the long-distance behavior of the heavy scalar σ , we want to approximate $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ near the free-field pole $J_* = -\Delta_{\sigma}$. As $m_{\varphi} \to 0$, the dimension of φ also vanishes, $\Delta_{\varphi} \sim m_{\varphi}^2/(2\alpha) \to 0$, and so we find that there are two simplifications of the self-energy in this limit. The first is that the terms with factors of $\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}} \propto \Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi}) \propto m_{\varphi}^{-2}$ are *enhanced* compared to those with $\bar{\mathcal{G}}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}$, whose amplitude does not diverge as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. The second is that only terms with factors of $\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}$ can contribute poles that approach the free-field pole at $J_* = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, and there are only finitely many that do. Such poles are further enhanced by a factor of $\Delta_{\varphi}^{-1} \propto m_{\varphi}^{-2}$ compared to other poles or regular terms in the self-energy. We thus find that the self-energy near the free-field pole, and thus the correction to σ 's long-distance behavior, is governed by a single easily-calculated term as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$.

We will first illustrate this procedure in the so-called "bubble" diagram in §3.1, which is the leading correction in a theory with a cubic interaction $\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{1}{2}g\varphi\sigma^2$. Here, there are exact analytic results we can use to check our approximations. Then, in §3.2, we study the general theory with quartic interactions with $\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{1}{2}g\sigma^2\varphi^2 + \frac{1}{4!}g_{\varphi}\varphi^4 + \frac{1}{4!}g_{\sigma}\sigma^4$, computing the leading order physical corrections to the two-point functions in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. Throughout, we will regulate UV divergences by first working with $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(3 - \epsilon)$ and then taking $\epsilon \to 0$.



Figure 1: The analytic structure of the bubble diagram $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ for $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$. In [black], we denote the free-field poles at $J = -\Delta_{\sigma} = -(\alpha + i\nu_{\sigma})$ and $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} = -(\alpha - i\nu_{\sigma})$ at which $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ is regular. It instead has singularities at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$, in [blue]. These singularities encroach upon the free-field poles and dominate the self-energy as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. The bubble also has singularities at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$, pictured in [red], which remain well-separated from the free-field poles as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$.

3.1 The Bubble

We begin by studying the theory with a cubic interaction, $\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{1}{2}g\varphi\sigma^2$, which we denote diagrammatically as

$$- = -g . (3.12)$$

We should also include the relevant vertex counterterms, i.e. $\mathcal{L}_{ct} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_g \varphi \sigma^2 + \cdots$, but since the goal of this section is to compute σ 's self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ to leading order in perturbation theory, these counterterms will not contribute to the final answer and so we will not include them.

The first correction to σ 's self-energy appears at $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$, and is generated by the bubble diagram

or equivalently,

$$\Pi_{\sigma}(J) = (-g)^2 [G^{\sigma} G^{\varphi}]_J - J(J+2\alpha)\delta_{Z_{\sigma}} - \delta_{m_{\sigma}}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ is determined by the inversion formula (2.22) applied to the collection of propagators appearing in the loop, $H(\zeta) = G^{\sigma}(\zeta)G^{\varphi}(\zeta)$. An exact expression for $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ was found in [35], which we present in (A.15). As we illustrate in Figure 1, they found that the bubble has poles at $J = -\Delta_{\sigma} - \Delta_{\varphi} - 2k$, $J = -\Delta_{\sigma} - \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} - 2k$, $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} - \Delta_{\varphi} - 2k$ and $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} - \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} - 2k$, for all non-negative integer $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Physically, these correspond to the appearance of long-lived two-particle states with non-zero momenta. Our goal is to see this structure directly from the inversion formula (2.22) and to extract the self-energy's $m_{\varphi} \to 0$ behavior. Using (2.19), we can expand the bubble into its constituents with definite scaling as $\zeta \to 0$,

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J}.$$
(3.15)

We will focus on the first term, $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$, and recover the behavior of the others by simply interchanging the dimensions Δ_{σ} and Δ_{φ} with their shadows $\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$ and $\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}$. The relevant discontinuity is then given by

disc
$$\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}(\zeta) = -\frac{2\pi i \mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\sigma})\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})}{\Gamma(\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(1 - \Delta_{\sigma} - \Delta_{\varphi})}$$

 $\times \zeta^{\Delta_{\varphi} + \Delta_{\varphi}} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\sigma} - 2\alpha + 1 \end{bmatrix} - \zeta \Big] {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\varphi} - 2\alpha + 1 \end{bmatrix} - \zeta \Big]$ (3.16)

and so the inversion formula reads

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1 \\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ \times \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] ,$$
(3.17)

with

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} = \frac{2\pi^{\alpha+1}\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\sigma})\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(J+1)}{4^{J}\Gamma(J+\alpha+1)\Gamma(\Delta_{\sigma}+\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(1-\Delta_{\sigma}-\Delta_{\varphi})} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

The coefficients $\mathcal{A}(\Delta)$ are defined in (2.20), and crucially diverge $\mathcal{A}(\Delta) \propto \Delta^{-1}$ as $\Delta \to 0$. This implies that, barring any enhancements coming from singularities in J, the terms that depend on $\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}$ will be enhanced over those that depend on $\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}$ in the limit that $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ and $\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} \to \alpha$.

Following our analysis of the propagator in §2.3, it is convenient to treat the infrared and ultraviolet regions of (3.17) separately, writing $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{\mathrm{IR}} + [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{\mathrm{UV}}$ with

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} &= \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1 \\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ &\times \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \Big] \,. \end{aligned}$$
(3.19)

We will focus on this infrared contribution first since we can use it to immediately read off where $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$'s singularities are. As $\zeta \to 0$, the integrand behaves as $\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma}-1}$ and so it diverges when $J = -\Delta_{\varphi} - \Delta_{\sigma}$. Technically, this integral representation is only well-defined for $\operatorname{Re} J > -\operatorname{Re} \Delta_{\varphi} - \operatorname{Re} \Delta_{\sigma}$, but we may derive an analytic continuation by series expanding the integrand about $\zeta = 0$,

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, J+1\\2J+2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} -\zeta] {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ \times {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k}(J, \Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi})\zeta^{k}, \quad (3.20)$$

and then integrating (3.19) term-by-term to find

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{c_{k}(J,\Delta_{\sigma},\Delta_{\varphi})}{J+\Delta_{\sigma}+\Delta_{\varphi}+k} \,.$$
(3.21)

Immediately, we see that the deep infrared $\zeta \to 0$ of the integral (3.19) generates a family of potential singularities at $J = -\Delta_{\sigma} - \Delta_{\varphi} - k$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$. However, some of their residues may vanish and so some of these poles may be spurious.

Ignoring the coefficient $\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}}$ for the moment, the residue around each pole $c_k(\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi}) \equiv c_k(-[\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + k], \Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi})$ takes a relatively simple closed form, with non-zero even coefficients

$$c_{2k}(\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi}) = \frac{1}{2^{4k}k!} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi} + k)}{\Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi})} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \alpha + k, \Delta_{\sigma} + k, \alpha - \Delta_{\sigma} - k, \alpha - \Delta_{\varphi} - k \end{bmatrix} \times \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} - 2\alpha + 1 + 2k, \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + k \\ \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} - 2\alpha + 1 + k, \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + 2k \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.22)

and vanishing odd coefficients, $c_{2k+1}(\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\sigma}) = 0$. From this, we find that the bubble indeed has poles at $J = -\Delta_{\sigma} - \Delta_{\varphi} - 2k$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, there is a hierarchy in residues as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, with $c_0(\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi}) = 1$ while the rest are $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\varphi})$. We can understand this hierarchy as follows. Since the integral (3.19) is constrained to $\zeta \in [0, 1]$, we may approximate the last hypergeometric function as

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\varphi} - 2\alpha + 1\end{bmatrix} - \zeta = 1 + \frac{1}{2}\Delta_{\varphi}\left(-\zeta\right){}_{3}F_{2}\begin{bmatrix}1, \ 1, \ \frac{3}{2} - \alpha\\ 2, \ 2 - 2\alpha\end{bmatrix} - \zeta + \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\varphi}^{2})$$
(3.23)

and so, to leading order in Δ_{φ} , the integral in (3.19) reduces to that of (2.29), except that the factor of $\zeta^{J+\Delta-1}$ there is now a factor of $\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}+\Delta_{\varphi}-1}$, which as we argued there only has a single non-vanishing residue.

Since we are primarily interested in the behavior of the bubble near the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$, to leading order in Δ_{φ} we can approximate

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{\Delta_{\varphi}}, \qquad \Delta_{\varphi} \to 0,$$
 (3.24)

with $\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta\sigma}$ the coefficient appearing in the inversion of the propagator (2.28), and thus (3.19) as

$$\left[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} \approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{\Delta_{\varphi}} \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi}} \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Near the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$, the terms we have dropped are suppressed by a factor of Δ_{φ}^2 compared to the one we have kept.

The analysis of the UV contribution $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{UV}$ is more involved because it diverges as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. We leave its analysis in Appendix D, but the upshot is that $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{UV}$ is regular in J and is well-approximated by

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{UV}} \approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1 \\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ \times \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} + \cdots$$
(3.26)

as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, where the \cdots denote terms that diverge as $\epsilon \to 0$. These divergences simplify drastically only once we sum over dimensions and their shadows, i.e. only in $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ and not in expressions like $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$. Regardless, aside from the UV divergence, (3.26) is subleading in Δ_{φ} compared to (3.25) near $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ and so we may drop it.

A similar story applies to $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$, which dominates near the free-field pole at $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$, and to compute it we only need to replace Δ_{σ} with $\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$ in (3.25). The other terms in (3.15) are neither singular near the free-field poles $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ or $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$, nor are they enhanced by diverging factors of $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})$. Thus, at leading order in Δ_{φ} , we can approximate the bubble as

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} \approx [G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} + \dots \approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{\Delta_{\varphi}} \frac{1}{(J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})(J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})} + \dots, \qquad (3.27)$$

where the \cdots denote the UV divergences from $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J^{UV}$. Specifically, as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$, this becomes

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} \approx \frac{3}{8\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{m_{\varphi}^{2}} \frac{1}{(J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})(J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})} + \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\epsilon}, \qquad (3.28)$$

where the $1/(8\pi^2\epsilon)$ is the divergence of the bubble in dimensional regularization (C.13). We compare this approximation to the exact result (A.15) in Figure 2, where we find excellent agreement as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$. To leading order in Δ_{φ} , we thus find that the self-energy reduces to

$$\Pi_{\sigma}(J) \approx \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2 \Delta_{\varphi}} \frac{1}{(J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})(J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})} + \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon} - J(J + 2\alpha)\delta_{Z_{\sigma}} - \delta_{m_{\sigma}}$$
(3.29)

in the regions of J which are relevant for σ 's propagation over long distances. This allows us to determine our counterterms as

$$\delta_{Z_{\sigma}} = \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2 \nu_{\sigma}^2 \Delta_{\varphi}^3} \quad \text{and} \qquad \delta_{m_{\sigma}} = \frac{g^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon} + \frac{g^2 m_{\sigma}^2}{32\pi^2 \nu_{\sigma}^2 \Delta_{\varphi}^3}, \tag{3.30}$$

where $\nu_{\sigma} \equiv \sqrt{m_{\sigma}^2 - \alpha^2}$. Furthermore, the free-field pole at $J_* = -\Delta_{\sigma} = -(\alpha + i\nu_{\sigma})$ is shifted to

$$J_* = -\frac{3}{2} \left(1 + \frac{3}{16\pi^2} \frac{g^2}{\nu_\sigma^2 m_\varphi^4} \right) - i\nu_\sigma \,. \tag{3.31}$$

As noted in [35], the heavy field σ 's interaction with the light field φ causes it to decay faster than any free field since σ 's coupling to φ provides it with another decay channel in addition to the standard dilution due to Hubble expansion. On the other hand, as explained in [34], the enhancement of this decay of σ with respect to m_{φ} can be interpreted as the washing out of σ



Figure 2: Plots of the relative error $\rho \equiv |\text{exact} - \text{approx}|/|\text{exact}|$ between the approximation (3.28) to the exact result (A.15), with $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(3 - 10^{-8})$. On the *left*, we plot this relative error as a function of J, along a line in the complex plane that is parallel to the real axis and passes through the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$, for $m_{\varphi}^2 = 10^{-2}$ and various values of m_{σ} . On the *right*, we plot this relative error at the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ as a function of m_{φ} . It can be seen that the relative error between the approximate (3.28) and exact (A.15) results is $\mathcal{O}(m_{\varphi}^2)$.

correlations at long distances due to the enhanced fluctuations of φ in the infrared. In this way, we can make contact with in-in perturbation theory wherein the enhanced fluctuations of φ are tied to the dynamics of the super-horizon modes [41, 42].

We have argued that $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$'s singularity structure in J can be extracted from the IR contribution $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ alone since the UV contribution is regular in J. We may then write

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\mathcal{R}(\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)}{J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + 2k} + \frac{\mathcal{R}(\Delta_{\sigma} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)}{J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k} + \left(\Delta_{\sigma} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}\right) \right] + f(J), \quad (3.32)$$

where $\mathcal{R}(J_*)$ denotes the residue of this function at $J = -J_*$ and f(J) is an analytic function. Unlike the propagator in §2.3, the bubble does not necessarily decay as $|J| \to \infty$ because the product $G^{\sigma}(\xi)G^{\varphi}(\xi)$ is too singular as $\xi \to 1$, ultimately leading to the UV divergence $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J \sim 1/(8\pi^2\epsilon)$. Analytically continuing our Euclidean results defined on $\xi \in [-1, 1]$ to Lorentzian signature with $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ requires that these coefficients decay sufficiently rapidly to use the Watson-Sommerfeld transform, and we ensure this is possible by adjusting our counterterms, subtracting off the constant—or the J(J+3) terms in cases where the kinetic counterterm is needed—as $J \to \infty$. Once this is done, the self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ vanishes as $J \to \infty$ and thus we can conclude that f(J) = 0. The full self-energy can thus be recovered from the IR contribution $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ alone. This agrees with (3.28), where we have truncated the sum in (3.32) to only its dominant poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})$ and $-(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})$ and approximated their residues in the $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ limit.

Before we proceed to study quartic interactions, it will be helpful to understand how the approximation (3.28) arises in Euclidean signature as in [34]. Here, the analysis is much more

straightforward since we can use the Euclidean inversion formula (2.12) for non-negative integer J,

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = \frac{(4\pi)^{\alpha}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathrm{d}\xi \left(1-\xi^{2}\right)^{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} C_{J}^{\alpha}(\xi) G^{\sigma}(\xi) G^{\varphi}(\xi) , \quad J \in \mathbb{N} .$$
(3.33)

Since this integral is restricted to the finite interval $\xi \in [-1, 1]$, we may expand the light field propagator into its harmonics (2.14),

$$G^{\varphi}(\xi) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{m_{\varphi}^2} + \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \sum_{J=1}^{\infty} \frac{J+\alpha}{J(J+2\alpha) + m_{\varphi}^2} C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) , \qquad (3.34)$$

where the first term is the Euclidean zero mode (2.8) propagator. As $m_{\varphi} \to 0$, we find that the Euclidean zero mode dominates the bubble $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$, and (3.33) may be approximated as

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{[G^{\sigma}]_{J}}{m_{\varphi}^{2}} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{m_{\varphi}^{2}} \frac{1}{(J+\Delta_{\sigma})(J+\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma})} \,. \tag{3.35}$$

This agrees with (3.28) as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ when $J \in \mathbb{N}$, and so we can interpret the enhancement factor as the Euclidean zero mode of the light field φ which becomes strongly coupled [38] as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$.

3.2 The Sunset

Having studied the bubble diagram, we now focus on sunset diagrams. Specifically, we will study the theory with interaction and counterterm Lagrangians

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{ct}} = \frac{1}{2}g\sigma^{2}\varphi^{2} + \frac{1}{4!}g_{\varphi}\varphi^{4} + \frac{1}{4!}g_{\sigma}\sigma^{4} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{Z_{\sigma}}(\partial\sigma)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{Z_{\varphi}}(\partial\varphi)^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{m_{\sigma}}\sigma^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{m_{\varphi}}\varphi^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{g}\sigma^{2}\varphi^{2} + \frac{1}{4!}\delta_{g_{\varphi}}\varphi^{4} + \frac{1}{4!}\delta_{g_{\sigma}}\sigma^{4}$$
(3.36)

and associated interaction vertices

$$= -2g, \qquad \qquad = -g_{\varphi}, \qquad \qquad = -g_{\sigma}, \qquad (3.37)$$

To these, we add the analogous counterterm vertices, with $g \to \delta_g$, $g_{\varphi} \to \delta_{g_{\varphi}}$ and $g_{\sigma} \to \delta_{g_{\sigma}}$, which we distinguish with a crossed circle, e.g. \otimes . Specifically, we will compute the self-energies of σ and φ , $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ and $\Pi_{\varphi}(J)$ respectively, in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$ with g, g_{φ} , and g_{σ} all $\ll 1$. We will work perturbatively in each of these couplings to second order, which we will collectively denote $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ as shorthand—this includes terms that are $\mathcal{O}(gg_{\sigma})$, $\mathcal{O}(g_{\sigma}^2)$. This is the first order at which physical corrections arise and they will be generated by so-called "sunset" diagrams.¹²

At first order in the couplings, σ 's self-energy is given by

$$-\overbrace{} \bigcirc - = \bigcirc + \bigcirc + \frown + - \diamondsuit , \qquad (3.38)$$

¹²The sunset diagram in de Sitter has also been studied using the Schwinger-Dyson equations for the O(N) scalar field theory in [64].

where we exclude terms associated with vertex renormalization that are not needed to this order in perturbation theory. Specifically, we have

$$\Pi_{\sigma}(J) = -g G^{\varphi}(1) - \frac{1}{2} g_{\sigma} G^{\sigma}(1) - J (J + 2\alpha) \delta_{Z_{\sigma}} - \delta_{m_{\sigma}}, \qquad (3.39)$$

where $G(1) \equiv \lim_{\xi \to 1} G(\xi) \equiv \lim_{y \to x} G(x, y)$ represents the coincident limit of the propagator. These diagrams are UV divergent and, as before, we regularize them via dimensional regularization by working in $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(3 - \epsilon)$ and taking $\epsilon \to 0$ with masses held fixed. We define the coincident limit of the free-field propagator in general dimensions as

$$G(1) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} - \alpha, \Delta, 2\alpha - \Delta \\ \frac{1}{2} + \alpha - \Delta, \frac{1}{2} - \alpha + \Delta \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.40)

which, as $\epsilon \to 0$, behaves as

$$G(1) \sim -\frac{(\Delta - 1)(\bar{\Delta} - 1)}{16\pi^2} \left[\frac{2}{\epsilon} - \psi (\Delta - 1) - \psi (\bar{\Delta} - 1) + \log 4\pi e^{-\gamma_{\rm E}} + 1 \right] - \frac{1}{8\pi^2}, \qquad (3.41)$$

with $\gamma_{\rm E} \equiv -\psi(1)$ the Euler-Mascheroni constant and $\psi(z) = \Gamma'(z)/\Gamma(z)$ the digamma function. In our renormalization scheme, this contribution is completely absorbed by the mass counterterm, such that $\delta_{Z_{\sigma}} = \mathcal{O}(g^2)$ and $\delta_{m_{\sigma}} = -g G^{\varphi}(1) - \frac{1}{2}g_{\sigma}G^{\sigma}(1) + \mathcal{O}(g^2)$. The same is true for the self-energy of φ to first order, which is given by

$$- \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\bullet} = \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\bullet} + \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\bullet} + \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\bullet} + \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\bullet} , \qquad (3.42)$$

or equivalently

$$\Pi_{\varphi}(J) = -g G^{\sigma}(1) - \frac{1}{2} g_{\varphi} G^{\varphi}(1) - J (J + 2\alpha) \delta_{Z_{\varphi}} - \delta_{m_{\varphi}} .$$
(3.43)

For a light field, there is only one pole with maximal real part, and ensuring this pole yields the physically measured mass forces us to choose $\delta_{Z_{\varphi}} = \mathcal{O}(g^2)$ and $\delta_{m_{\varphi}} = -gG^{\sigma}(1) - \frac{1}{2}g_{\varphi}G^{\varphi}(1) + \mathcal{O}(g^2)$. Physical corrections to the propagation of both σ and φ instead occur at $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$.

At second order in perturbation theory, σ 's self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ is given by



It is clear that the diagrams on the second line of (3.44) all cancel in our renormalization scheme, while the two diagrams associated with the $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ vertex counterterms can be absorbed into the $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ part of the $\delta_{m_{\sigma}}$ counterterm, as they yield just a constant factor $-\frac{1}{2}\delta_{g_{\sigma}}G^{\sigma}(1) - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{g}G^{\varphi}(1)$. So, to $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ σ 's self-energy is given by the sum of sunset diagrams,

or

$$\Pi_{\sigma}(J) = \frac{1}{2} (-2g)^2 [G^{\varphi} G^{\varphi} G^{\sigma}]_J + \frac{1}{3!} (-g_{\sigma})^2 [G^{\sigma} G^{\sigma} G^{\sigma}]_J - J(J+2\alpha) \delta_{Z_{\sigma}}^{(2)} - \delta_{m_{\sigma}}^{(2)}$$
(3.46)

where we use $\delta_{Z_{\sigma}}^{(2)}$ and $\delta_{m_{\sigma}}^{(2)}$ to denote the counterterms at $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$, having absorbed the vertex counterterms. The logic is identical for the $\mathcal{O}(g^2)$ corrections to $\Pi_{\varphi}(J)$, and so we have

$$- \bigcirc - + - \bigcirc - + - \diamondsuit$$
 (3.47)

or, equivalently,

$$\Pi_{\varphi}(J) = \frac{1}{2} (-2g)^2 [G^{\varphi} G^{\sigma} G^{\sigma}]_J + \frac{1}{3!} (-g_{\varphi})^2 [G^{\varphi} G^{\varphi} G^{\varphi}]_J - J(J+2\alpha) \delta_{Z_{\varphi}}^{(2)} - \delta_{m_{\varphi}}^{(2)}.$$
(3.48)

We see that the leading order corrections to the self-energies of σ and φ are determined by sums of sunset diagrams, and our goal is to approximate how they correct the long-distance behavior of the propagators in the limit $m_{\varphi} \to 0$.

We begin by considering σ 's mixed sunset diagram, which we may decompose (2.19) as

Given our experience with the bubble diagram in §3.1, we already know which terms in (3.49) will dominate as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. The first term, $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}]_J$, will contain two factors of $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi}) \propto \Delta_{\varphi}^{-2}$ and have two families of integer-spaced poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)$, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$.¹³ As $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, the right-most poles with k = 0 will encroach on the free-field poles at $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ and $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}$ and dominate the self-energy.

This does not happen with the other two terms in (3.49). By the same logic, $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ will only contain one factor of $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})$ and have two families of poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k) = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\alpha + 2k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + 2\alpha + 2k)$, neither of which encroach upon the free-field poles as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. Similarly, $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ has no factors of $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})$ and poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + 2\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$. Thus, the terms $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$, $[\mathcal{G}^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ and $[\mathcal{G}^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ will be of order Δ_{φ}^{-3} , Δ_{φ}^{-1} and Δ_{φ}^{0} , respectively, near the free-field poles as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ and so we will

¹³From the representation (3.52), it is trivial to see that $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathbb{R}}$ potentially has poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + k)$ and $J = -(\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + k)$, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Unfortunately, it is not so easy to see from this form that the residues of the poles vanish for all odd k, and we do not have a proof of this. These residues are trivial to compute—one simply sets $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + k)$ and series expands the integrand about $\zeta = 0$ to find the coefficient of the ζ^{k} term. In practice, we have confirmed that residues of the odd k poles vanish up to k = 15, though whether or not this is true does not affect our results. Physically, that these odd poles vanish follows from momentum conservation—the pole at $J = -(\Delta_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi} + k)$ is generated by a long-lived state of a Δ_{σ} "particle" and two Δ_{φ} "particles," with k units of integer-quantized momentum distributed among them. Since momentum must be conserved, we cannot add momentum along one leg without adding the opposite momentum along the other, and so k must be even to correspond to a long-lived physical state.

only need to keep the first. By similar logic, the other sunset diagram $\propto [G^{\sigma}G^{\sigma}G^{\sigma}]_J$ will be of $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\varphi}^0)$ as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, and so we need not consider it.

The dominant contribution to σ 's self-energy as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ is then given by

$$[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}2\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}+2\Delta_{\varphi}-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix}^{2} + (\Delta_{\sigma} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}),$$

$$(3.50)$$

where we have introduced the coefficient

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}2\Delta_{\varphi}} = \frac{2\pi^{\alpha+1}}{4^{J}} \frac{\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\sigma})\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+\alpha+1)\Gamma(\Delta_{\sigma}+2\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(1-\Delta_{\sigma}-2\Delta_{\varphi})} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)^{2}\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{16\pi^{2\alpha+2}\Delta_{\varphi}^{2}}.$$
 (3.51)

Following the same strategy we used with the bubble diagram, the self-energy near the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\sigma}$ is dominated by the IR part of this integrand,

$$[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} \approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)^{2}}{16\pi^{2\alpha+2}} \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{\Delta_{\varphi}^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}+2\Delta_{\varphi}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1 \\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2} \\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} + (\Delta_{\sigma} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}), \quad (3.52)$$

which is well-approximated by the first term in the series expansion of the integrand about $\zeta = 0$,

$$[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} \approx \left[\frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]^{2} \frac{1}{(J+\Delta_{\sigma}+2\Delta_{\varphi})(J+\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}+2\Delta_{\varphi})}.$$
(3.53)

To this, we must add the UV contribution $[G^{\sigma}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{UV}$. This is subleading as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, albeit UV divergent. We regularize the general sunset diagram in Appendix C, finding (C.18) as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. We find that as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, the sunset diagram (3.49) is well-approximated by

$$- \sum \left[G^{\sigma} G^{\varphi} G^{\varphi} \right]_{J} \sim \frac{1}{64\pi^{4} \Delta_{\varphi}^{2}} \frac{1}{(J + \Delta_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi})(J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + 2\Delta_{\varphi})} \\ - \frac{J(J + 3)}{2(4\pi)^{4}\epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^{4}\epsilon} + \mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\sigma}) + 2\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi})$$
(3.54)

where $\mathcal{U}(\Delta)$ is defined in (C.19). Since $[G^{\sigma}G^{\sigma}G^{\sigma}]_J$ is subleading, (3.54) determines the self-energy $\Pi_{\sigma}(J)$ to leading order in ϵ and Δ_{φ} . Imposing our renormalization conditions, $\operatorname{Re}\Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma}) = 0$ and $\Pi'_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma})$, we find second-order corrections to the kinetic and mass counterterms to be

$$\delta_{Z_{\sigma}}^{(2)} = -\frac{g^2}{(4\pi)^4} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2\nu_{\sigma}^2 \Delta_{\varphi}^4} \right]$$

$$\delta_{m_{\sigma}}^{(2)} = -\frac{8g^2}{(4\pi)^4\epsilon} + \frac{g^2}{2(4\pi)^4} \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{\nu_{\sigma}^2 \Delta_{\varphi}^4} + 2g^2 \mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\sigma}) + 4g^2 \mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi})$$
(3.55)

at leading order in $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. The imaginary part of the self-energy is unaffected by these real

counterterms and is simply

Im
$$\Pi_{\sigma}(-\Delta_{\sigma}) \sim \frac{2g^2}{(4\pi)^4 \nu_{\sigma} \Delta_{\omega}^3}, \qquad \Delta_{\varphi} \to 0.$$
 (3.56)

Using (3.8), we find that the free-field pole is shifted by

$$J_* \approx -\frac{3}{2} \left(1 + \frac{9}{128\pi^4} \frac{g^2}{\nu_\sigma^2 m_\varphi^6} \right) - i\nu_\sigma \,. \tag{3.57}$$

As with the bubble diagram of §3.1, coupling to the light scalar φ causes the heavy scalar σ to decay faster than any free field in de Sitter.

This shift of the free-field pole translates into a clear observable in the context of the cosmological collider signal [34]. Ultimately, given any operator which couples to the scalar mode during inflation, it is the leading exponent of this operator in the infrared (i.e. in the late time limit) which fixes the decay of the three-point function $\langle \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_3} \rangle$ in the squeezed limit [28]. Therefore, the pole J_* contains all the necessary information to characterize the scaling exponents in the shape function. Recalling (1.3), in the interacting theory the decay parameter corresponding to a σ exchange in the cosmological collider precisely becomes

$$\beta = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \frac{27}{128\pi^4} \frac{g^2}{\nu_\sigma^2 m_\varphi^6} \right), \tag{3.58}$$

thereby resulting in a clear suppression of the signal.

We can also compute the leading-order corrections to the light scalar φ 's self-energy (3.48). This is dominated by the sunset diagram involving three internal φ legs,

$$- \bigcirc - \propto [G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} + 3 \times [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J} + 3 \times [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J}.$$

$$(3.59)$$

By the same logic we used for (3.49), the first term $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$ scales¹⁴ as Δ_{φ}^{-2} and has poles at $J = -(3\Delta_{\varphi} + 2k)$, the second $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ scales as $\propto \Delta_{\varphi}^{-1}$ and has poles at $J = -(2\Delta_{\varphi} + \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$, the third $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ scales as $\propto \Delta_{\varphi}^{-1}$ and has poles at $J = -(\Delta_{\varphi} + 2\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$, while the last term $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ scales as Δ_{φ}^0 and has poles at $J = -(3\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} + 2k)$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We thus see that only the poles of the first term $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$ encroach on the free-field pole at $J = -\Delta_{\varphi}$ and so dominates over the others—it is of order Δ_{φ}^{-3} while the others are of order Δ_{φ}^{-2} , Δ_{φ}^{-1} and Δ_{φ}^0 , respectively. However, if we are interested in the behavior of the self-energy near the other free-field pole $J = -\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}$, then $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_J$ is of order Δ_{φ}^{-3} and dominates over the others.

¹⁴From (3.61), we see that even though this term is proportional to $\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})^3 \sim \Delta_{\varphi}^{-3}$, the discontinuity in the inversion formula (2.22) introduces an extra $1/\Gamma(3\Delta_{\varphi})$ that causes this term to scale as Δ_{φ}^{-2} as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. This still matches with the Euclidean picture—if we replace every internal leg with a zero mode propagator as in (3.34), we find that this diagram should scale as $m_{\varphi}^{-6} \propto \Delta_{\varphi}^{-3}$ when J = 0. At non-zero J, atleast one internal leg must be a non-zero mode, and so this diagram scales as $m_{\varphi}^{-4} \propto \Delta_{\varphi}^{-2}$ when $J \neq 0$.

Focusing on $\Pi_{\varphi}(J)$ near $J = -\Delta_{\varphi}$, we argued that this is dominated by

$$\left[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]_{J} = \mathcal{N}_{J,3\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+3\Delta_{\varphi}-1}{}_{2}F_{1} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{smallmatrix}\right] - \zeta \left]{}_{2}F_{1} \left[\begin{smallmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{smallmatrix}\right] - \zeta \right]^{3} \quad (3.60)$$

with

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,3\Delta_{\varphi}} = \frac{2\pi^{\alpha+1}}{4^J} \frac{\mathcal{A}(\Delta_{\varphi})^3 \Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(3\Delta_{\varphi}) \Gamma(1-3\Delta_{\varphi}) \Gamma(J+\alpha+1)} \,. \tag{3.61}$$

As with (3.50), this integral is dominated by its IR contribution near $J = -\Delta_{\varphi}$, and we may approximate it by the closest pole,¹⁵

$$\left[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]_{J}^{\mathrm{IR}} \approx \frac{3}{2\alpha} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]^{2} \frac{1}{J+3\Delta_{\varphi}}.$$
(3.62)

To this, we must add its UV divergence (C.18) and so we find that, as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$,

$$- \bigcirc - \propto [G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}]_{J} \sim \frac{1}{64\pi^{4}\Delta_{\varphi}^{2}}\frac{1}{J+3\Delta_{\varphi}} - \frac{J(J+3)}{2(4\pi)^{4}\epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^{4}\epsilon} + 3\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi})$$
(3.63)

near $J = -\Delta_{\varphi}$. Since this diagram also dominates over the other, φ 's self-energy is well-approximated by

$$\Pi_{\varphi}(J) \approx \frac{g_{\varphi}^2}{3!} \left[\frac{1}{64\pi^4 \Delta_{\varphi}^2} \frac{1}{J + 3\Delta_{\varphi}} - \frac{J(J+3)}{2(4\pi)^4 \epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^4 \epsilon} + 3\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi}) \right] - J(J+3)\delta_{Z_{\varphi}}^{(2)} - \delta_{m_{\varphi}}^{(2)}. \quad (3.64)$$

This self-energy is completely real, and so its effect on the free-field pole $J = -\Delta_{\varphi}$ can be completely absorbed by the counterterms. Requiring $\operatorname{Re} \Pi(-\Delta_{\varphi}) = \Pi'(-\Delta_{\varphi}) = 0$, we find that

$$\delta_{Z_{\varphi}} \sim -\frac{g_{\varphi}^{2}}{12(4\pi)^{4}\epsilon} - \frac{g_{\varphi}^{2}}{18(4\pi)^{4}\Delta_{\varphi}^{4}}$$

$$\delta_{m_{\varphi}} \sim -\frac{2g_{\varphi}^{2}}{3(4\pi)^{4}\epsilon} + \frac{g_{\varphi}^{2}}{6(4\pi)^{4}\Delta_{\varphi}^{3}} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\varphi}^{2}\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi}),$$
(3.65)

as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$. Of course, this is not to say that quantum fluctuations do not change the longdistance behavior of $\langle \varphi(x)\varphi(y)\rangle$, as the self-energy

$$\Pi_{\varphi}(J) \sim \frac{g_{\varphi}^2}{3(4\pi)^4 \Delta_{\varphi}^3} \left[\frac{2\Delta_{\varphi}}{J + 3\Delta_{\varphi}} + \frac{J(J+3)}{6\Delta_{\varphi}} - \frac{1}{2} \right], \quad \Delta_{\varphi} \to 0,$$
(3.66)

is still non-trivial in this limit.

Before we conclude, it will be helpful to discuss the conditions under which these perturbative results are valid, concentrating on φ 's self-energy. There are a host of diagrams we can draw at

¹⁵When J = 0, we can easily evaluate (3.59) by decomposing the propagator into its zero mode and non-zero mode contributions, cf. (3.34). Using the definition of $[G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}G^{\varphi}]_J$ given in (2.11), we have that (3.59) reduces to the product of three zero mode propagators multiplied the inverse square of the zero mode profiles (2.8).

 $\mathcal{O}(g^3)$, though the only ones that yield physical effects are what we call the "Homer" diagrams,

$$- \bigcirc - \bigcirc - + - \bigcirc - + - \bigcirc - + \cdots . \tag{3.67}$$

Specifically, the first dominates as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$ and is given in position space by

$$- \mathcal{H}(z_1, z_2) \equiv \frac{1}{4} (-g_{\varphi})^3 \int_{S^D} d^D z_3 \left[G^{\varphi}(z_1, z_3) \right]^2 \left[G^{\varphi}(z_3, z_2) \right]^2 G^{\varphi}(z_1, z_2) \,. \tag{3.68}$$

We can easily compute this Homer's leading Δ_{φ} -dependence at J = 0 by replacing each internal leg with a zero-mode propagator, cf. (3.34), and then multiplying by the inverse-square of the zero mode profile (2.8), yielding

$$[\mathcal{H}]_0 \sim -\frac{g_{\varphi}^3}{8\alpha} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1} \Delta_{\varphi}} \right]^4 \frac{1}{\Delta_{\varphi}}, \qquad \Delta_{\varphi} \to 0.$$
(3.69)

Our perturbative expansion is valid as long as the Homer is subleading to the sunset (3.59), and their ratio at J = 0 is

$$\frac{[\mathcal{H}]_0}{[\mathcal{S}]_0} = -\frac{3g_{\varphi}}{2} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}\Delta_{\varphi}} \right]^2 \underset{\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}}{\sim} -\frac{3g_{\varphi}}{2} \left[\frac{3}{8\pi^2 m_{\varphi}^2} \right]^2.$$
(3.70)

We thus require that $g_{\varphi} \ll \frac{128}{27} \pi^4 m_{\varphi}^4$ to maintain perturbative control and ensure that $[\mathcal{H}]_0 \ll [\mathcal{S}]_0$. Equivalently, our results only apply to light and very weakly-coupled fields, and our perturbative expansions break down when φ becomes very light with $m_{\varphi} \lesssim g_{\varphi}^{1/4}$. Similar logic holds for the self-energy for σ which has its own dominant Homer diagram with four internal φ legs. Ensuring that this Homer is subleading to the sunset (3.49) similarly requires that $g \ll \frac{128}{27} \pi^4 m_{\varphi}^4$. This is the familiar breakdown of perturbation theory for light fields in de Sitter [38, 41, 45]. In Euclidean signature, this breakdown is tied to the fact that the zero mode becomes strongly coupled as $m_{\varphi} \to 0$ [38], and we will discuss how to restore control by rearranging perturbation theory around this strongly coupled zero mode in a follow-up work.

4 Conclusions

A heavy scalar σ , with $m_{\sigma} > \frac{3}{2}H$, that is excited during inflation will freely propagate, oscillating in phase at a frequency that depends on its mass, until it eventually decays. This, in turn, will impart an oscillatory signal onto the primordial bispectrum in the squeezed limit—the cosmological collider signal—which cannot be easily mimicked by other local processes, and so it serves as a "smoking gun" inflationary signature of the field σ , from which we can determine its mass (and spin). Unfortunately, a light field φ does not generate a similar oscillatory signal in the bispectrum, but it *will* modify how σ propagates over long distances, causing it to decay more rapidly. We can thus infer the presence of such light fields via the cosmological collider signal by their impact on σ . These effects grow larger the lighter φ is, and the goal of this paper was to study these corrections in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \ll \frac{3}{2}$.

Specifically, we described how to compute the self-energies of σ and φ in de Sitter space, using the Froissart-Gribov or Lorentzian inversion formula (2.22) to analytically continue from Euclidean to Lorentzian signature. We found that these self-energies drastically simplified in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \to 0$, and described how to appropriately leverage the small parameter m_{φ}/H to make physical predictions. These techniques should apply straightforwardly to any diagram with only two vertices, regardless of the number of internal legs or loops. We first used them in §3.1 to analyze the bubble diagram, in which σ and φ interact via a cubic interaction $g\varphi\sigma^2$. We did not consider all possible interactions in this theory, as we mainly used it as an illustrative test case to understand how self-energies behaved in the light limit. We then analyzed the fully interacting theory of σ and φ invariant under $\sigma \to -\sigma$ and $\varphi \to -\varphi$, whose physical corrections were determined by various sunset diagrams. We regulated these sunset diagrams in Appendix C, fully determining the mass and kinetic counterterms in this theory and computed how interactions affect the long-distance behavior of both fields in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \to 0$. These results apply for light, weakly-coupled fields with couplings g, $g_{\varphi} \ll \frac{128}{27}\pi^4 m_{\varphi}^4$.

Given the ubiquity of such light scalar fields in modern high energy physics, there are several future directions worth pursuing:

- As mentioned previously, our techniques are easily and straightforwardly applicable to any diagram with only two vertices. It would be interesting to study diagrams with more internal vertices, like the Homer diagrams of §3.2. Can we easily infer their analytic structure using (2.22), and do they also simplify in the $m_{\varphi}/H \rightarrow 0$ limit?
- Similarly, do other correlators like $\langle \sigma(x)\sigma(y)\sigma(z)\rangle$ also simplify in the limit $m_{\varphi}/H \to 0$?
- Given that de Sitter correlators are uniquely sensitive to the quantum fluctuations of light fields, are there other inflationary observables that can be used to detect them?
- Finally, how do these correlators behave away from very weak coupling, $g, g_{\varphi} \gtrsim \frac{128}{27} \pi^4 m_{\varphi}^4$?

We hope to return to some of these questions in the future.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Arindam Bhattacharya, Michael Geller, Cody Long, Qianshu Lu, Austin Joyce, Rashmish Mishra, Matt Reece, and Lian-Tao Wang for very helpful discussions. We would especially like to thank Qianshu Lu and Matt Reece for comments on the draft. The work of both PC and JS is supported by the DOE grant DE-SC0013607, while the work of JS is also supported NASA Grant 80NSSC20K0506. This work was performed in part at Aspen Center for Physics, which is supported by National Science Foundation grant PHY-2210452.

A Formulary

In this appendix, we collect various definitions and conventions of the special functions we use in the main text as well as several useful formulas.

Many of our expressions will contain large ratios and products of gamma functions, and so we adopt the common shorthand

$$\Gamma\begin{bmatrix}a, b, c, \cdots \\ d, e, f, \cdots\end{bmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c)\cdots}{\Gamma(d)\Gamma(e)\Gamma(f)\cdots} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma[a, b, c, \cdots] = \Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c)\cdots,$$
(A.1)

though we will also use actual products and ratios when they look better. For arguments with large imaginary parts, the magnitude of the gamma function is exponentially suppressed,

$$|\Gamma(x+iy)| = \sqrt{2\pi} |y|^{x-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\pi|y|/2}, \qquad y \to \pm \infty,$$
 (A.2)

with both x and y real. The digamma function $\psi(z)$ is defined as $\psi(z) = \frac{d}{dz} \log \Gamma(z)$ and usefully obeys the functional equation $\psi(z+1) = \psi(z) + 1/z$. Furthermore, $-\psi(1) = \gamma_{\rm E} \approx -0.577216$ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant.

The Gaussian or ordinary hypergeometric function is defined in the disc |z| < 1 by the series

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) \equiv {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}a, \ b\\c\end{bmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a+n)\Gamma(b+n)}{\Gamma(c+n)} \frac{z^{n}}{n!}.$$
 (A.3)

This can also be defined through the Mellin-Barnes integral [65]

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c;z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \int_{\gamma} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i} \frac{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(a-s)\Gamma(b-s)}{\Gamma(c-s)} (-z)^{-s}, \qquad (A.4)$$

in which the contour γ runs along the imaginary s-axis and separates the so-called "left poles" generated by $\Gamma(s)$ from the "right poles" generated by $\Gamma(a-s)\Gamma(b-s)$.¹⁶ For certain values of a, b, and c, the contour γ may need to be deformed to separate these families of poles and may not always be strictly parallel to the imaginary axis, as illustrated in Figure 3. This integral representation converges as long as z is not on the positive real axis, $z \notin [0, \infty)$.

Any function of two points on the Euclidean sphere that is invariant under its isometries must be a function of the embedding distance $\xi \in [-1, 1]$, and so admits a decomposition into any complete set of orthogonal polynomials on the interval. An especially useful set for our purposes are the Gegenbauer polynomials. These can be defined in terms of the Gegenbauer-Cfunctions [66], which are solutions to the differential equations

$$\left[(\xi^2 - 1)\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\xi^2} + (2J+1)\,\xi\,\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\xi} - J(J+2\alpha) \right] C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) = 0\,, \tag{A.5}$$

¹⁶This is typically written with $s \to -s$, but this form it will be slightly more convenient for our purposes.

and can be expressed in terms of the hypergeometric function as

$$C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) \equiv \frac{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)}{\Gamma(J+1)\Gamma(2\alpha)} \,_2F_1 \begin{bmatrix} -J, \ J+2\alpha \\ \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \frac{1-\xi}{2} \end{bmatrix} \,. \tag{A.6}$$

The Gegenbauer polynomials are then defined as the Gegenbauer-C functions restricted to nonnegative integer J. Furthermore, for large argument, these behave as

$$C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) \sim \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha\\ \alpha, J+1 \end{bmatrix} (2\xi)^J + \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} J+2\alpha, -(J+\alpha)\\ \alpha, -J, J+1 \end{bmatrix} (2\xi)^{-(J+2\alpha)},$$
(A.7)

as $|\xi| \to \infty$. In particular, at the endpoints of the interval

$$C_J^{\alpha}(1) = \frac{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)}{\Gamma(J+1)\Gamma(2\alpha)} \quad \text{and} \quad C_J^{\alpha}(-1) = \frac{\cos \pi (J+\alpha)}{\cos \pi \alpha} \frac{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)}{\Gamma(J+1)\Gamma(2\alpha)}, \quad (A.8)$$

and so both grow as $J^{2\alpha-1}$ for large integer J. However, $C_J^{\alpha}(-1)$ grows exponentially as $\operatorname{Im} J \to \pm \infty$. The Gegenbauer C-functions are thus very poorly behaved for non-integer J.

Any smooth function $H(\xi)$ can then be decomposed as

$$H(\xi) = \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} (J+\alpha) [H]_J C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) , \qquad (A.9)$$

where the coefficients $[H]_J$ can be extracted via

$$[H]_J = \frac{(4\pi)^{\alpha} \Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathrm{d}\xi \left(1-\xi^2\right)^{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} C_J^{\alpha}(\xi) H(\xi)$$
(A.10)

for integer J. As discussed in the main text, they may also be extracted via a contour integral over the Gegenbauer Q-function

$$[H]_J = \frac{(4\pi)^{\alpha} \Gamma(\alpha) \Gamma(J+1)}{\Gamma(J+2\alpha)} \oint_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{2\pi i} \left(\xi^2 - 1\right)^{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi) H(\xi) \,, \tag{A.11}$$

where C wraps the interval $\xi \in [-1, 1]$ in a counter-clockwise fashion. The Gegenbauer-Q are the other solution to (A.5) and may be defined as

$$Q_{J}^{\alpha}(\xi) \equiv \frac{2^{1-J-2\alpha}\pi\Gamma(J+2\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(J+\alpha+1)} (\xi-1)^{-J-2\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+2\alpha \\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\ 1-\xi \end{bmatrix} .$$
(A.12)

Importantly, $Q_J^{\alpha}(\xi)$ is the unique solution to (A.5) which *decays* as $\xi^{-J-2\alpha}$ as $|\xi| \to \infty$. This implies that, as long as the integral (A.11) converges, it defines the appropriate analytic continuation of $[H]_J$ to non-integer J that is well-behaved in the right-half J-plane.

The functions we work with will have a discontinuity along $\xi \in [1, \infty)$, and so we may write

$$[H]_{J} = -\frac{2\pi^{\alpha+1}\Gamma(J+1)}{4^{J}\Gamma(J+\alpha+1)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{2\pi i} \zeta^{J-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \operatorname{disc} H(\zeta), \qquad (A.13)$$

where $\zeta \equiv 2/(\xi - 1)$. The discontinuity

disc
$$(-1/\zeta)^{-\Delta} = -2i\zeta^{\Delta}\sin\pi\Delta = -\frac{2\pi i\zeta^{\Delta}}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(1-\Delta)}, \quad \zeta > 0,$$
 (A.14)

will be particularly useful throughout the text.

In our notation, the inversion $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ of the bubble diagram was found in [35] to be

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi})}{16\pi^{\alpha}} \frac{\cos\pi\Delta_{\varphi}}{\sin\pi(\alpha-\Delta_{\varphi})} \Gamma\left[2-2\alpha, J+1, \frac{1}{2}(J+1-\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi})\right] \times \Gamma\left[J+2-\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi}, \frac{1}{2}(J+2\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi}-\Delta_{\sigma}), \frac{1}{2}(J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma})\right] \times (A.15)$$

$$_{7}\overline{V}_{6}\left[J+1-\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi}; 1-\alpha, 1-2\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi}, J+1, \frac{1}{2}(J+2\alpha+\Delta_{\varphi}-\Delta_{\sigma}), \frac{1}{2}(J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma})\right] + (\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\sigma}) \rightarrow (\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\sigma}) + (\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\sigma}) \rightarrow (\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi}) + (\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\sigma}) \rightarrow (\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\varphi})$$

where

$${}_{7}\overline{V}_{6}[a;b,c,d,e,f] = \frac{{}_{7}V_{6}[a;b,c,d,e,f]}{\Gamma\left[\frac{1}{2}a,1+a-b,1+a-c,1+a-d,1+a-e,1+a-f\right]}$$
(A.16)

is a regularized $_7V_6$, the so-called very well-poised $_7F_6$ hypergeometric function [65],

$${}_{7}V_{6}[a;b,c,d,e,f] = {}_{7}F_{6}\left[\begin{array}{c}a, 1+\frac{1}{2}a, b, c, d, e, f\\\frac{1}{2}a, 1+a-b, 1+a-c, 1+a-d, 1+a-e, 1+a-f\end{array}\right|1\right],$$
(A.17)

with

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{bmatrix}a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{p} \\ b_{1}, b_{2}, \cdots, b_{q}\end{bmatrix}z = \Gamma\begin{bmatrix}b_{1}, b_{2}, \cdots, b_{q} \\ a_{1}, a_{2}, \cdots, a_{p}\end{bmatrix}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\Gamma\begin{bmatrix}a_{1}+n, a_{2}+n, \cdots, a_{p}+n \\ b_{1}+n, b_{2}+n, \cdots, b_{q}+n\end{bmatrix}\frac{z^{n}}{n!}$$
(A.18)

for |z| < 1 is the generalized hypergeometric function. Such regularized hypergeometric functions are entire in all of their parameters, while a hypergeometric function is said to be well-poised if p = q + 1 and $1 + a_1 = b_1 + a_2 = b_2 + a_3 = \cdots = b_q + a_{q+1}$. Such functions are very well-poised if they are well-poised and $a_2 = 1 + \frac{1}{2}a_1$.

B Uniqueness of the Interpolation

In the main text, we defined Lorentzian de Sitter two-point functions on $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ via the analytic continuation of their Euclidean counterparts defined on $\xi \in [-1, 1]$. These Euclidean correlation functions were expressed as sums over integer momenta J of weighted Gegenbauer polynomials, which only converge¹⁷ when $|\xi| < 1$. To analytically continue these expressions to $|\xi| \ge 1$, we rely on the Watson-Sommerfeld transformation to convert the discrete sum into a contour integral over the product of a meromorphic "interpolation" of the summand and a "kernel" with unit residue poles at non-negative integers. As we have discussed, there are infinitely many interpolations that

¹⁷Strictly speaking, α also needs to be small enough for these sums to converge, as the propagator is too singular when $\alpha \geq \frac{3}{2}$ to be faithfully represented by a Gegenbauer polynomial interpolation.

match the summand at the integers, but Carlson's theorem guarantees that there can be only one with sub-exponential growth as $|J| \to \infty$. In this appendix, we give a pedagogical explanation for why this well-behaved interpolation, given by the Lorentzian inversion formula (2.22), is the correct one to use for analytically continuing two-point functions to $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$.

We can illustrate this simply by applying the Watson-Sommerfeld transformation to (A.3) to derive the Mellin representation (A.4) for $_2F_1(a, b; c; z)$. The most obvious interpolation is

$$\frac{\Gamma(a+n)\Gamma(b+n)}{\Gamma(c+n)}\frac{z^n}{n!} \to \frac{\Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)}{\Gamma(c+s)\Gamma(s+1)}(-z)^s \mathrm{e}^{-i\pi s}\,,\tag{B.1}$$

and so, with the kernel $k(s) = -e^{i\pi s}\Gamma(-s)\Gamma(s+1)$, we can rewrite the sum as

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = -\frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i} \frac{\Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)\Gamma(-s)}{\Gamma(c+s)} (-z)^{s}$$
(B.2)

where the contour C sandwiches the positive real axis, coming from $s = \infty + i\epsilon$ to $s = i\epsilon$, enclosing the pole at s = 0, and then going off to $s = \infty - i\epsilon$.

Unfortunately, the integral in (B.2) still is only absolutely convergent for |z| < 1, and so nothing has yet been accomplished. To analytically continue to $|z| \ge 1$, we must deform C into a contour along which the integral decays more rapidly as $|s| \to \infty$. The main factor to pay attention to is

$$|(-z)^s| = \rho^k \mathrm{e}^{-\vartheta t}, \qquad (B.3)$$

where we have written $-z = \rho e^{i\vartheta}$ and s = k + it. This tells us that the integrand is additionally exponentially suppressed if we approach the point $s = \infty$ in the upper (lower) half-plane when $\vartheta > 0$ ($\vartheta < 0$). Ideally, we could take advantage of this exponential suppression and arrive at an absolutely convergent integral representation for ${}_2F_1(a,b;c;z)$ by deforming \mathcal{C} into a contour γ that lies parallel to the imaginary axis. However, this would also require that the interpolation decays quickly enough in the opposite direction—the lower or upper half-plane when $\vartheta > 0$ or $\vartheta < 0$, respectively—that we can ignore the resulting arcs at infinity.

Using (A.2), the integrand behaves as

$$\frac{\Gamma(a+s)\Gamma(b+s)\Gamma(-s)}{\Gamma(c+s)}(-z)^s \bigg| \sim 2\pi\rho^k t^{\operatorname{Re}(a+b-c)-1} \mathrm{e}^{-t\vartheta-\pi|t|}, \quad |t| \to \infty, \quad (B.4)$$

we see that the integrand is always exponentially suppressed as $t \to \pm \infty$ as long as $\vartheta \neq -\pi$. This is where Carlson's theorem comes in: any entire function that vanishes on the positive integers and grows slower than $e^{\pi |s|}$ as $|s| \to \infty$ must be identically zero. So, if we instead modify the interpolation by adding to it an arbitrary regular function f(s) multiplied by $\sin \pi s$, designed to vanish at all positive integers, this ruins the interpolation's asymptotic behavior as $|s| \to \infty$ and it instead grows exponentially at least as fast as $e^{\pi |s|}$ as $|s| \to \infty$. This interpolation is thus useless for defining an analytic continuation for $|z| \ge 1$ whereas (B.1), unique in its asymptotic behavior, is the one that must be used to go beyond the original domain of convergence |z| <1. An analogous discussion applies to the Gegenbauer polynomial expansions like (2.17), since asymptotically (A.7) they have the same polynomial dependence on their argument.

C UV Divergences of de Sitter Self-Energies

Both the bubble and sunset diagrams are UV divergent and, in this appendix, we regularize them via dimensional regularization. Specifically, we first evaluate these diagrams at an $\alpha = (3 - \epsilon)/2$ for which they converge. For the bubble and sunset diagrams, this naively requires that Re $\alpha < 1$ and Re $\alpha < \frac{5}{6}$, respectively. We then analytically continue these results to $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ and $\epsilon \to 0$, keeping the masses m_{φ} and m_{σ} fixed. That they diverge when $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ is represented by a set of poles in ϵ , which we then subtract with our mass and kinetic counterterms.

Unfortunately, while we can efficiently extract the self-energies' singularities in J from the representations derived in the main text (3.19) and (3.52), there is a sort of conservation of trouble and it is quite difficult to extract their $\epsilon \to 0$ behavior for $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$, or in any even spacetime dimension with D > 2. To see the essence of this problem, we can consider the free field propagator in the form

$$G(\zeta) = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})}{(4\pi)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}} \left(-\frac{1}{\zeta} \right)^{\frac{1}{2} - \alpha} {}_{2}F_{1} \left[\frac{1}{2} + \alpha - \Delta, \frac{1}{2} - \alpha + \Delta \right] \left| -\frac{1}{\zeta} \right] + \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{(4\pi)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}} \Gamma \left[\frac{1}{2} - \alpha, 2\alpha - \Delta \right] {}_{2}F_{1} \left[\Delta, 2\alpha - \Delta \right] \left| -\frac{1}{\zeta} \right] ,$$
(C.1)

which is useful for constructing a series expansion in the deep UV, $\zeta \to \infty$. Unfortunately, both terms in (C.1) are individually singular as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$, even though their sum is well-defined. These cancellations are necessary in order for the series expansion of (C.1) to the logarithms of ζ that appear in (C.1) when $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$. To make matters worse, these cancellations occur between terms at different orders in the series expansion around $\zeta = \infty$, which makes it exceedingly difficult to track which terms in (C.1) dominate the bubble and sunset diagrams as $\epsilon \to 0$, and to efficiently extract their divergences.

Instead, we will rely on the Mellin representation of these self-energies to extract their UV behavior. Such representations have found wide use in the study of flat space Feynman diagrams for instance, see [67] for a pedagogical review—but also the study of de Sitter correlation functions in the flat slicing [68–71], though it will be helpful to also review them here in the context of Euclidean de Sitter correlation functions. We will first illustrate these techniques using the propagator (2.27) and the bubble diagram, where we have exact results to which we can compare. Finally, we apply them to the sunset diagram.



Figure 3: Mellin-Barnes integration contours for the $\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}(\zeta)$ for a light [*left*] and heavy [*right*] fields. For light fields, the original integration contour γ' must snake around the "left" pole at $s = \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - \Delta$ in order to completely separate the left and right poles. We will deform this contour to one that runs parallel to the imaginary *s*-axis, denoted γ , by including the contribution from this pole. This is unnecessary for both heavy fields and the Mellin-Barnes representation of $\mathcal{G}_{\overline{\Delta}}$.

C.1 The Propagator

Let us consider one-half of the propagator (2.27)

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_{J} = \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \tag{C.2}$$

with the coefficient $\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta}$ given by (2.28) and the full propagator $[G]_J = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_J + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}}]_J$ given by this contribution plus its shadow $\bar{\Delta} = 2\alpha - \Delta$. This integral can be evaluated exactly and is singular when $\alpha = (3 - \epsilon)/2 \rightarrow \frac{3}{2}$, with pole

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_J \sim -\frac{\tan \pi \Delta}{\pi (J+1)(J+2)} \frac{1}{\epsilon}, \qquad \epsilon \to 0.$$
 (C.3)

Of course, $[G]_J$ is regular as $\epsilon \to 0$, and (C.3) cancels against an equal and opposite contribution from its shadow $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}}]_J$.

Our basic strategy is to replace the hypergeometric function from the propagator in (C.2) with its Mellin representation (A.4), which we write as

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{bmatrix}\Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\2\Delta-2\alpha+1\end{bmatrix} - \zeta = \Gamma\begin{bmatrix}2\Delta-2\alpha+1\\\Delta, \ \Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\end{bmatrix}\int_{\gamma}\frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i}\Gamma\begin{bmatrix}\Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}+s, \ -s, \ \alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s\\\Delta-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}-s\end{bmatrix}\zeta^{\alpha-\Delta-\frac{1}{2}-s}.$$
(C.4)

We can then integrate over ζ . As pictured in Figure 3, the integrand of (C.4) has a set of "left" poles at $s = \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - \Delta - k$ and two sets of "right" poles at s = k and $s = \alpha - \frac{1}{2} + k$, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$ a non-negative integer. The contour γ is chosen such that it separates these left and right poles. For a heavy field, this means that the contour γ can be chosen to run parallel to the imaginary



Figure 4: A singularity may develop in (C.5) if the contour γ is "pinched" between left and right poles as $\epsilon \to 0$ [*left*]. We can compute the resulting singularity by moving the contour γ past the pinching pole and picking up its residue [*right*]. The resulting integral is regular as $\epsilon \to 0$, so the ϵ singularity is fully contained within this residue and may be easily calculated.

axis in the strip $-\frac{1}{2} < \operatorname{Re} s < 0$, from $\operatorname{Im} s = -\infty$ to $\operatorname{Im} s = +\infty$. The same is true for light fields with dimensions $\alpha - \frac{1}{2} < \Delta < \alpha$, though here the strip is reduced to $\alpha - \frac{1}{2} - \Delta < \operatorname{Re} s < 0$. For light fields with dimensions below $\Delta < \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$, the right-most left pole is actually to the right of the left-most right pole, and so the contour can no longer be purely parallel to the imaginary axis and separate the left and right poles. However, we can deform this contour to be parallel to the imaginary axis and lie in the strip $-\frac{3}{2} + \sqrt{\alpha^2 - m^2} < \operatorname{Re} s < 0$, at the cost of including the residue of the pole at $s = \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - \Delta$, which is thankfully just 1.¹⁸ The upside is that we will always choose the contour γ to be parallel to the Im s axis, with a small negative real part.

With (C.4) inserted (C.2), we can perform the integral over ζ to find

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_J = \int_{\gamma} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i} \,\Gamma\big(\tfrac{3}{2} - \alpha + s\big) \Gamma(-s)\mathcal{F}(s) \tag{C.5}$$

with

$$\mathcal{F}(s) = \frac{\sin \pi \Delta}{2\pi \sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta)} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} 1 + s \,, \, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s \,, \, \Delta - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s \,, \, J + \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s \\ J + \alpha + \frac{3}{2} + s \,, \, \Delta - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s \end{bmatrix} \,. \tag{C.6}$$

The integral over ζ converges when $\operatorname{Re} s > \alpha - \frac{3}{2}$ and $\operatorname{Re} (J - s + \alpha) > 1$, which is satisfied by the contour γ as long as $\alpha < \frac{3}{2}$, or for $\epsilon > 0$.¹⁹

The integral (C.5) is well-defined and thus non-singular as long as the contour γ separates the left poles from the right poles. The only way a singularity can develop is if the contour γ gets

¹⁸We will not consider "conformally-coupled" scalar fields with $m^2 = \alpha^2 - \frac{1}{4}$ or equivalently dimension $\Delta = \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$. In this case, the left-most right pole and right-most left pole overlap, and the Mellin representation is not so useful. However, in this case, the propagator takes such a simple form $G(\zeta) = (-1/\zeta)^{\frac{1}{2}-\alpha}\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})/(4\pi)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}$ that the inversion formula (2.22) can be done exactly, and so this more complicated analysis is unnecessary.

¹⁹We will assume throughout this analysis that Re J is always large enough to avoid any potential J singularities. Relaxing this assumption would not change our conclusions but only make the analysis more tedious, and it is easier to extract the singularity structure in J using the techniques presented in the main text.

"pinched" by the left-most right pole at s = 0 and the right-most left pole at $s = \alpha - \frac{3}{2} = -\epsilon/2$, as illustrated in Figure 4. As $\epsilon \to 0$, we can extract this singularity by deforming the contour past it, at the price of picking up its residue,

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_J = \underset{s=-\epsilon/2}{\operatorname{res}} \left[\Gamma\left(\frac{\epsilon}{2} - s\right) \Gamma(-s) \mathcal{F}(s) \right] + \int_{\gamma} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i} \, \Gamma^{/\{0\}}\left(\frac{\epsilon}{2} - s\right) \Gamma(-s) \mathcal{F}(s) \,, \tag{C.7}$$

where we use $\Gamma^{\{0\}}(z)$ to denote that the contour γ is deformed to avoid the z = 0 singularity of $\Gamma(z)$. Similarly, we will use $\Gamma^{\{0,-1,\ldots\}}(z)$ to denote that the contour γ avoids the $z = 0, -1, \ldots$ singularities of $\Gamma(z)$. The remaining integral in (C.7) is completely regular as $\epsilon \to 0$ and so the only divergence comes from the residue in (C.7),

$$[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta}]_{J} \sim -\frac{\sec \pi \alpha \sin \pi \Delta}{2\sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta)} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} J+1, \, \Delta - 1\\ J+2\alpha, \, \Delta - 2\alpha + 2 \end{bmatrix} \sim -\frac{\tan \pi \Delta}{\pi (J+1)(J+2)} \frac{1}{\epsilon}, \quad (C.8)$$

as $\epsilon \to 0$, which recovers the UV divergence (C.3) from the exact result.

C.2 The Bubble

A similar strategy works for the bubble diagram, though it will be more convenient to sum over the dimensions and their shadows at the outset. For instance, using (C.4) in (3.17), we have

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_{1}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathrm{d}s_{2}}{2\pi i} \Gamma(2 - 2\alpha + s_{1} + s_{2})\Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_{1} + s_{2}) \times \Gamma[-s_{1}, -s_{2}, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_{1}, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_{2}]\mathcal{F}(s_{1}, s_{2}),$$
(C.9)

where the s_1 and s_2 contours (which we denote γ_1 and γ_2 , respectively, but will suppress in our expressions going forward) are chosen to run parallel to the imaginary s_1 and s_2 axes, with small negative real parts, as described in the previous section. Here, we have also defined the function

$$\mathcal{F}(s_1, s_2) = \frac{(4\pi)^{-\alpha - \frac{3}{2}} \sin \pi (\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi})}{\sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta_{\sigma}) \sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta_{\varphi})} \frac{\Gamma(J + 2\alpha - 1 - s_1 - s_2)}{\Gamma(J + 2 + s_1 + s_2)} \times \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s_1, \ \Delta_{\sigma} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s_2\\ \Delta_{\varphi} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s_1, \ \Delta_{\sigma} - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s_2 \end{bmatrix} + \cdots,$$
(C.10)

where the \cdots denote the three other permutations under $\Delta_{\sigma} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} = 2\alpha - \Delta_{\sigma}$ and $\Delta_{\varphi} \to \bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} = 2\alpha - \Delta_{\varphi}$. This Mellin representation is valid (for large enough Re J) as long as α is such that the contours can sit to the left of the right poles generated by $\Gamma(-s_1)$ and $\Gamma(-s_2)$, and to the right of the left poles generated by $\Gamma(2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2)$ and $\Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_1 + s_2)$. This is possible as long as $\alpha < 1$, and we will need to analytically continue this result from $\alpha < 1$ to $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$ to extract the bubble's UV divergences.

As illustrated in Figure 5, the "right" singularities generated by the factor $\Gamma[-s_1, -s_2, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_1, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_2]$ form horizontal and vertical lines in the Re s_1 – Re s_2 plane (in red and blue), while the "left" singularities generated by $\Gamma(2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2)\Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_1 + s_2)$ form diagonal lines (green and purple) that move towards the upper right as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. As they move,



Figure 5: As $\alpha \to 1$ [*left*], the right-most left pole [*green*] traps the integration contour, here shown as a crossed circle in [*yellow*], between the right poles [*red/blue*]. These poles form lines in the Re s_1 -Re s_2 plane, with Im $s_1 = \text{Im } s_2 = 0$. To analytically continue beyond $\alpha = 1$, we again move the contour around the pinching poles, picking up the residue at that pole. As described in the text, this happens again as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$ [*right*] for two sets of poles in [*green/purple*].

they trap the integration contour (in yellow) between the lines of the right singularities and pinch it. As $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$ from $\alpha < 1$, the contour is first pinched by the $2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 = 0$ singularity of $\Gamma(2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2)$. As before, we need to move the contour past this singularity. We do this first by replacing the s_1 integral with its residue and singularity-subtracted integral, and then similarly the s_2 integral. Fortunately, the residue at $s_1 = -(2 - 2\alpha + s_2)$ vanishes identically when we include the sum over shadows in (C.10), so we may write

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_{1}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathrm{d}s_{2}}{2\pi i} \Gamma^{/\{0\}} (2 - 2\alpha + s_{1} + s_{2}) \Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_{1} + s_{2}) \times \Gamma[-s_{1}, -s_{2}, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_{1}, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_{2}] \mathcal{F}(s_{1}, s_{2}).$$
(C.11)

We can now continue this expression to $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. The integration contour is first pinched by the $\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_1 + s_2 = 0$ singularity and then the $2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 = -1$ singularity. Treating each pinch in turn, we find that the residue again vanishes for the $2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 = -1$ singularity and so we are left with a single contribution from the $\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_1 + s_2 = 0$ singularity,

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} = -\pi \sec \pi \alpha \, \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right) \mathcal{F}\left(0, \alpha - \frac{3}{2}\right) + \cdots$$
$$= -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right) \csc \pi \Delta_{\sigma} \cos \pi(\alpha - \Delta_{\sigma}) \csc \pi(2\alpha - \Delta_{\sigma})}{4(4\pi)^{\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \Gamma(2 - \Delta_{\sigma}) \Gamma(2 - 2\alpha + \Delta_{\sigma})} + \cdots$$
(C.12)

where the \cdots denote the remaining integral terms that are regular as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. Taking $\alpha = (3-\epsilon)/2$ and $\epsilon \to 0$, we are left with a suprisingly simple result for the full bubble diagram,

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J \sim \frac{1}{8\pi^2\epsilon}, \qquad (C.13)$$

which agrees with the divergence extracted from the exact result (A.15).

Before we move on, we should note that this derivation treated φ as if it had mass $m_{\varphi}^2 > \alpha^2 - \frac{1}{4}$ so that we did not need to "straighten out" the s_1 contour to lie parallel to the imaginary axis. If the field is light enough, $m_{\varphi}^2 < \alpha^2 - \frac{1}{4}$, we need to include a 1 in our resolution (C.4) of the Δ_{φ} -dependent hypergeometric function that appears in $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}G^{\sigma}]_J$. We are then left with an additional Mellin-type integral with an integrand that is proportional to $\Gamma(s_2+\frac{3}{2}-\alpha-\Delta_{\varphi})\Gamma(-s_2)$. As $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2} - \Delta_{\varphi} = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{3}m_{\varphi}^2 + \cdots$, the left-most pole of $\Gamma(s_1 + \frac{3}{2} - \alpha - \Delta_{\varphi})$ and the right-most pole of $\Gamma(-s_1)$ pinch the integration contour. However, this does not contribute to the ϵ -divergence of $[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_J$ for two reasons. First, while the residue of $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$ at this pole is non-zero, it is exactly canceled by its shadow contribution from $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$. Second, even if this residue did not vanish, this contribution is necessarily regular as $\epsilon \to 0$, even if it diverges as $\epsilon \to 2m_{\varphi}^2/3$. Thus, (C.13) applies when φ is either light or heavy. Similar logic holds for other diagrams with light fields. Intuitively, this is obvious—straightening out this contour represents a modification in the deep IR, which should not affect the UV structure of these diagrams. We now turn our attention to the sunset diagram.

C.3 The Sunset

Finally, let us turn our attention to the sunset diagram. It will be helpful to consider an arbitrary sunset diagram with fields φ_1 , φ_2 , and φ_3 with dimensions Δ_1 , Δ_2 , and Δ_3 and propagators G^{φ_1} , G^{φ_2} and G^{φ_3} , respectively,

$$\begin{bmatrix} G^{\varphi_1} G^{\varphi_2} G^{\varphi_3} \end{bmatrix}_J = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathrm{d}s_2}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathrm{d}s_3}{2\pi i} \Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2} - 3\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3\right) \Gamma\left(2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3\right) \\ \times \Gamma\left[-s_1, -s_2, -s_3, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_1, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_2, \alpha - \frac{1}{2} - s_3\right] \mathcal{F}(s_1, s_2, s_3),$$
(C.14)

where we have defined the function

$$\mathcal{F}(s_1, s_2, s_3) = \frac{(4\pi)^{-2\alpha - 2} \sin \pi (\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + \Delta_3)}{2 \sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta_1) \sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta_2) \sin \pi (\alpha - \Delta_3)} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} J + 3\alpha - \frac{3}{2} - s_1 - s_2 - s_3 \\ J - \alpha + \frac{5}{2} + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \times \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_1 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s_1 \\ \Delta_1 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s_1 \end{bmatrix} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_2 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s_2 \\ \Delta_2 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s_2 \end{bmatrix} \Gamma \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_3 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} + s_3 \\ \Delta_3 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - s_3 \end{bmatrix} + \cdots$$
(C.15)

where the \cdots denote the other 7 permutations generated by taking $\Delta_i \to \overline{\Delta}_i = 2\alpha - \Delta_i$ for i = 1, 2, 3. The integral over ζ from which this is derived naively converges only when $\alpha < \frac{5}{6}$, and so we must analytically continue (C.14) from $\alpha < \frac{5}{6}$ towards $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$ in order to extract its singularity structure as $\epsilon \to 0$.

The first singularity we encounter is at at $\frac{5}{2} - 3\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 = 0$ as $\alpha \to \frac{5}{6}$. Fortunately, like with the bubble diagram, the residue of the integrand at $s_1 = 3\alpha - \frac{5}{2} - s_2 - s_3$ vanishes identically once we include the shadow contributions and so $[G^{\varphi_1}G^{\varphi_2}G^{\varphi_3}]_J$ is actually regular as $\alpha \to \frac{5}{6}$. The first true singularity we encounter is from $2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 = 0$ as $\alpha \to 1$, in

which we can write

$$\begin{split} \left[G^{\varphi_1}G^{\varphi_2}G^{\varphi_3}\right]_J &= \Gamma(2-2\alpha)\Gamma\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right)^2\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}-\alpha\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\alpha\right)\mathcal{F}(0,0,2\alpha-2) \\ &+ \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_3}{2\pi i} \,\Gamma^{/\{0\}}\left(2-2\alpha+s_3\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}-\alpha+s_3\right) \\ &\times \,\Gamma\left[-s_3\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s_3\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\,,\,\frac{1}{2}-\alpha\right]\mathcal{F}(0,2\alpha-2-s_3,s_3) \\ &+ \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_2}{2\pi i} \,\frac{\mathrm{d}s_3}{2\pi i} \,\Gamma^{/\{0\}}(2-2\alpha+s_2+s_3)\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}-\alpha+s_2+s_3\right) \\ &\times \,\Gamma\left[-s_2\,,\,-s_3\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s_2\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\right]\mathcal{F}(2\alpha-2-s_2-s_3,s_2,s_3) \\ &+ \int \frac{\mathrm{d}s_1}{2\pi i} \,\frac{\mathrm{d}s_2}{2\pi i} \,\frac{\mathrm{d}s_3}{2\pi i} \,\Gamma^{/\{0\}}\left(\frac{5}{2}-3\alpha+s_1+s_2+s_3\right)\Gamma^{/\{0\}}\left(2-2\alpha+s_1+s_2+s_3\right) \\ &\times \,\Gamma\left[-s_1\,,\,-s_2\,,\,-s_3\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s_1\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s_2\,,\,\alpha-\frac{1}{2}-s_3\right]\mathcal{F}(s_1,s_2,s_3) \end{split}$$

The next relevant singularity is from $\frac{5}{2} - 3\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 = -1$ as $\alpha \to \frac{7}{6}$, but fortunately there the residue at $s_1 = 3\alpha - \frac{7}{2} - s_2 - s_3$ also vanishes identically. Finally, there are four singularities that become relevant as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$, those from $\frac{5}{2} - 3\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 = -2$, $2 - 2\alpha + s_1 + s_2 + s_3 = -1$, and $\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_2 + s_3 = 0$ or $\frac{3}{2} - \alpha + s_3 = 0$. Luckily, the residue of the fourth line in (C.16) vanishes identically at $s_1 = 3\alpha - \frac{9}{2} - s_2 - s_3$ after including the shadows, and so we end up with six terms

$$[G^{\varphi_1}G^{\varphi_2}G^{\varphi_3}]_J = \Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha)^2 \left[\mathcal{F}(0, \alpha - \frac{1}{2}, \alpha - \frac{3}{2}) + \mathcal{F}(\alpha - \frac{1}{2}, 0, \alpha - \frac{3}{2})\right] - \Gamma(3 - 2\alpha)\Gamma(\frac{5}{2} - \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{3}{2})\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha) \left[\mathcal{F}(0, 1, 2\alpha - 3) + \mathcal{F}(1, 0, 2\alpha - 3)\right] + \Gamma(\frac{3}{2} - \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2\Gamma(2 - 2\alpha)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha)\mathcal{F}(0, 0, 2\alpha - 2) - \Gamma(3 - 2\alpha)\Gamma(-\alpha - \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{5}{2} - \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha - \frac{1}{2})^2\mathcal{F}(0, 0, 2\alpha - 3) + \cdots$$
(C.17)

where the \cdots again denote the remainder integral terms that are regular as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$. In the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, we have

$$[G^{\varphi_1}G^{\varphi_2}G^{\varphi_3}]_J \sim -\frac{J(J+3)}{2(4\pi)^4\epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^4\epsilon} + \mathcal{U}(\Delta_1) + \mathcal{U}(\Delta_2) + \mathcal{U}(\Delta_3)$$
(C.18)

where we have defined

$$\mathcal{U}(\Delta) = -\frac{2(\Delta-1)(\bar{\Delta}-1)}{(4\pi)^4\epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} - \psi(\Delta-1) - \psi(\bar{\Delta}-1) + \log 4\pi e^{-\gamma_{\rm E}} + \frac{3}{2}\right].$$
 (C.19)

Clearly the first divergence in (C.18) will be absorbed by the kinetic counterterm, while the remaining divergences will be absorbed by the mass counterterm.

As a check, it will be helpful to compare (C.18) to its flat space limit. For simplicity, we consider the sunset diagram of the $\frac{1}{4!}g_{\varphi}\varphi^4$ theory, which behaves as [72]

$$- \underbrace{-}_{\bullet} = \frac{1}{3!} (-g_{\varphi})^2 \left[-\frac{k^2}{2(4\pi)^4 \epsilon} - \frac{6m_{\varphi}^2}{(4\pi)^2 \epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log 4\pi \mathrm{e}^{-\gamma_{\mathrm{E}}} + \log \mu^2 / m_{\varphi}^2 + \frac{3}{2} \right] \right]$$
(C.20)

with $D = (4 - \epsilon)$, with k^2 the square of the external four-momentum. The same diagram in de

Sitter yields

$$- \underbrace{-}_{3!} (-g_{\varphi})^2 \left[-\frac{J(J+3)}{2(4\pi)^4 \epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^4 \epsilon} + 3\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi}) \right].$$
(C.21)

Throughout this paper, we have worked in Hubble units H = 1. We can restore dimensions by multiplying the sunset by a factor of H^2 . The flat space limit then corresponds to taking $H \to 0$. All fields are "heavy" in this limit, and so $\Delta_{\varphi} = \alpha + i\sqrt{(m_{\varphi}/H)^2 - \alpha^2}$ and $\Delta_{\varphi}\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi} = (m_{\varphi}/H)^2$. With $H^2 J(J+3) \to k^2$, since both are eigenvalues of the Laplacian, we find that

$$-\frac{J(J+3)}{2(4\pi)^4\epsilon} - \frac{1}{64\pi^4\epsilon} + 3\mathcal{U}(\Delta_{\varphi}) \rightarrow -\frac{k^2}{2(4\pi)^4\epsilon} - \frac{6m_{\varphi}^2}{(4\pi)^2\epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log 4\pi \mathrm{e}^{-\gamma_{\mathrm{E}}} + \log H^2/m_{\varphi}^2 + \frac{3}{2}\right]$$
(C.22)

and so (C.21) exactly reproduces the flat space divergence (C.20) when the renormalization scale is taken to be Hubble $\mu = H$. This, however, is an automatic consequence of working in Hubble units, and so (C.21) exactly matches (C.20) in the flat-space limit $H \to 0$.

D UV Contributions in the Light Limit

In the main text, we argued that the UV contributions to the bubble and sunset diagrams were subleading as m_{φ} for all J, and we justify that statement in this appendix. As an example, we will study the UV contribution to the bubble diagram, given by

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J}^{UV} = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{UV} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{UV} + [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{UV} + [\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{UV}$$
(D.1)

in the limit $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, where

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{UV}} &= \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\varphi}+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ &\times \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{aligned} \tag{D.2}$$

and the other terms in (D.1) are just (D.2) with the dimensions appropriately replaced with their shadows. A similar analysis holds for the sunset diagrams, though since it is virtually identical to the bubble we will not repeat it.

The main trouble with naively expanding (D.2) in Δ_{φ} is that, as $\zeta \to \infty$, all three hypergeometric functions conspire so that the integrand behaves as $\zeta^{2\alpha-3}$ as $\zeta \to \infty$. Of course, this integral diverges as $\alpha \to \frac{3}{2}$ but, as discussed in the previous section, we will assume that we have already regularized these integrals using dimensional regularization. But, it is important to expand this integral in a way that does not disturb its structure as $\zeta \to \infty$. This can be accomplished by writing the integral as

$$\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}}^{-1}[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J}^{\mathrm{UV}} = \Gamma\left[\frac{\frac{1}{2}-\alpha, 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1}{\Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1}\right]\int_{1}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta\,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}-1}\,_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, J+1}{2J+2\alpha+1}\right] - \zeta\right] \times {}_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}{2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1}\right] - \zeta\right]\,_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{\Delta_{\varphi}, 2\alpha-\Delta_{\varphi}}{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}\right] - \frac{1}{\zeta}\right] + \qquad (D.3)$$
$$\Gamma\left[\frac{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}, 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1}{\Delta_{\varphi}, \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}\right]\int_{1}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta\,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}+\alpha-\frac{3}{2}}\,_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, J+1}{2J+2\alpha+1}\right] - \zeta\right] \times {}_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{\Delta_{\sigma}, \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}{2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1}\right] - \zeta\right]\,_{2}F_{1}\left[\frac{1}{2}-\Delta_{\varphi}+\alpha, \frac{1}{2}+\Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha}{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{\zeta}}\right].$$

Both integrals are now well-behaved if we expand in Δ_{φ} and the second line is clearly subleading to the first as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, since in this limit $1/\Gamma(\Delta_{\varphi}) \sim \Delta_{\varphi}$.

To leading order in Δ_{φ} , we can thus approximate this UV contribution as

$$\left[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}\right]_{J}^{\mathrm{UV}} \approx \mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{1}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \,_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \end{bmatrix} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\varphi}, \ \Delta_{\varphi}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\varphi}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta$$
(D.4)

which is indeed the original expression (D.2) with $\Delta_{\varphi} = 0$. The benefit of (D.3) is that it makes this approximation well-controlled, as the subleading terms are clearly of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and we can use it to construct a controlled series expansion in Δ_{φ} .

Combining this with the IR contribution, $[\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J = [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{\mathrm{IR}} + [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J^{\mathrm{UV}}$ yields

$$\begin{split} [\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_{J} &\approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\,\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}\zeta\,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} \left(\zeta^{\Delta_{\varphi}}-1\right) {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ &\times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}}}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}\Delta_{\varphi}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta\,\zeta^{J+\Delta_{\sigma}-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} J+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}, \ J+1\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2J+2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{1} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+1 \end{bmatrix} -\zeta \\ & 2F_{2} \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_{\sigma}, \ \Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ 2\Delta_{\sigma}-2\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\\ & 2F_{2} \end{bmatrix} \\ & 2F$$

To this we add $[\mathcal{G}_{\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}}\mathcal{G}_{\Delta_{\varphi}}]_J$, which is of the same order as $\Delta_{\varphi} \to 0$, and find with (C.13) that

$$\begin{split} [G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} &\approx \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{\Delta_{\varphi}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}} c_{k}(J,\Delta_{\sigma})}{J + \Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + k} + \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}} c_{k}(J,\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma})}{J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + k} \right] + \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\epsilon} \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{4\pi^{\alpha+1}} \frac{1}{\Delta_{\varphi}} \left[\frac{1}{(J + \Delta_{\sigma})(J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma})} - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\Delta_{\sigma}} c_{k}(J,\Delta_{\sigma})}{J + \Delta_{\sigma} + k} + \frac{\mathcal{N}_{J,\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}} c_{k}(J,\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma})}{J + \bar{\Delta}_{\sigma} + k} \right] \right] \end{split}$$
(D.6)

where $c_k(J, \Delta_{\sigma})$ are the series coefficients (2.30). Since $c_k(-[\Delta_{\sigma} + k], \Delta_{\sigma}) = \delta_{k,0}$, the second term is purely analytic in J, and thus subleading near $J = \Delta_{\sigma}$. Furthermore, this also implies that $c_k(-[\Delta_{\sigma} + \Delta_{\varphi} + k], \Delta_{\sigma}) = \delta_{k,0} + \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\varphi})$ and so, to leading order in $\Delta_{\varphi} \propto m_{\varphi}^2$, the bubble

drastically simplifies to

$$[G^{\sigma}G^{\varphi}]_{J} \approx \left[\frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{2\pi^{\alpha+1}}\frac{1}{m_{\varphi}^{2}}\right] \frac{1}{(J+\Delta_{\sigma}+\Delta_{\varphi})(J+\bar{\Delta}_{\sigma}+\Delta_{\varphi})} + \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\epsilon}.$$
 (D.7)

A similar story applies to the sunset diagram discussed in §3.2.

References

- R. D. Peccei and H. R. Quinn, "Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons," *Phys. Rev. D* 16 (1977) 1791–1797.
- [2] R. D. Peccei and H. R. Quinn, "CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 38 (1977) 1440–1443.
- [3] S. Weinberg, "A New Light Boson?," Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223–226.
- [4] F. Wilczek, "Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons," Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279–282.
- [5] R. Essig et al., "Working Group Report: New Light Weakly Coupled Particles," in Snowmass 2013: Snowmass on the Mississippi. 10, 2013. arXiv:1311.0029 [hep-ph].
- [6] J. Preskill, M. B. Wise, and F. Wilczek, "Cosmology of the Invisible Axion," *Phys. Lett. B* 120 (1983) 127–132.
- [7] M. Dine and W. Fischler, "The Not So Harmless Axion," Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137–141.
- [8] L. F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, "A Cosmological Bound on the Invisible Axion," *Phys. Lett. B* 120 (1983) 133–136.
- W. Hu, R. Barkana, and A. Gruzinov, "Cold and fuzzy dark matter," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 85 (2000) 1158-1161, arXiv:astro-ph/0003365.
- [10] J. Cooley et al., "Report of the Topical Group on Particle Dark Matter for Snowmass 2021," arXiv:2209.07426 [hep-ph].
- [11] P. W. Graham, D. E. Kaplan, and S. Rajendran, "Cosmological Relaxation of the Electroweak Scale," Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 no. 22, (2015) 221801, arXiv:1504.07551 [hep-ph].
- [12] N. Arkani-Hamed, T. Cohen, R. T. D'Agnolo, A. Hook, H. D. Kim, and D. Pinner, "Solving the Hierarchy Problem at Reheating with a Large Number of Degrees of Freedom," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 117 no. 25, (2016) 251801, arXiv:1607.06821 [hep-ph].
- [13] A. Hook, "Solving the Hierarchy Problem Discretely," Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 no. 26, (2018) 261802, arXiv:1802.10093 [hep-ph].
- [14] R. Tito D'Agnolo and D. Teresi, "Sliding naturalness: cosmological selection of the weak scale," JHEP 02 (2022) 023, arXiv:2109.13249 [hep-ph].
- [15] N. Craig, "Naturalness: A Snowmass White Paper," in Snowmass 2021. 5, 2022. arXiv:2205.05708 [hep-ph].
- [16] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper, and J. March-Russell, "String Axiverse," *Phys. Rev. D* 81 (2010) 123530, arXiv:0905.4720 [hep-th].
- [17] M. Demirtas, C. Long, L. McAllister, and M. Stillman, "The Kreuzer-Skarke Axiverse," JHEP 04 (2020) 138, arXiv:1808.01282 [hep-th].

- [18] M. Demirtas, N. Gendler, C. Long, L. McAllister, and J. Moritz, "PQ axiverse," JHEP 06 (2023) 092, arXiv:2112.04503 [hep-th].
- [19] P. D. Meerburg et al., "Primordial Non-Gaussianity," arXiv:1903.04409 [astro-ph.CO].
- [20] D. J. E. Marsh, "Axion Cosmology," Phys. Rept. 643 (2016) 1-79, arXiv:1510.07633 [astro-ph.CO].
- [21] S. Lu, "Axion isocurvature collider," JHEP 04 (2022) 157, arXiv:2103.05958 [hep-th].
- [22] X. Chen, J. Fan, and L. Li, "New inflationary probes of axion dark matter," arXiv:2303.03406 [hep-ph].
- [23] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities," JCAP 04 (2010) 027, arXiv:0911.3380 [hep-th].
- [24] X. Chen, "Primordial Non-Gaussianities from Inflation Models," Adv. Astron. 2010 (2010) 638979, arXiv:1002.1416 [astro-ph.CO].
- [25] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Large non-Gaussianities with Intermediate Shapes from Quasi-Single Field Inflation," Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 063511, arXiv:0909.0496 [astro-ph.CO].
- [26] D. Baumann and D. Green, "Signatures of Supersymmetry from the Early Universe," Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 103520, arXiv:1109.0292 [hep-th].
- [27] X. Chen and Y. Wang, "Quasi-Single Field Inflation with Large Mass," JCAP 09 (2012) 021, arXiv:1205.0160 [hep-th].
- [28] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, "Cosmological Collider Physics," arXiv:1503.08043 [hep-th].
- [29] V. Assassi, D. Baumann, and D. Green, "On Soft Limits of Inflationary Correlation Functions," JCAP 11 (2012) 047, arXiv:1204.4207 [hep-th].
- [30] T. Noumi, M. Yamaguchi, and D. Yokoyama, "Effective field theory approach to quasi-single field inflation and effects of heavy fields," *JHEP* 06 (2013) 051, arXiv:1211.1624 [hep-th].
- [31] H. Lee, D. Baumann, and G. L. Pimentel, "Non-Gaussianity as a Particle Detector," JHEP 12 (2016) 040, arXiv:1607.03735 [hep-th].
- [32] R. Flauger, M. Mirbabayi, L. Senatore, and E. Silverstein, "Productive Interactions: heavy particles and non-Gaussianity," JCAP 10 (2017) 058, arXiv:1606.00513 [hep-th].
- [33] D.-G. Wang, G. L. Pimentel, and A. Achúcarro, "Bootstrapping multi-field inflation: non-Gaussianities from light scalars revisited," JCAP 05 (2023) 043, arXiv:2212.14035 [astro-ph.CO].
- [34] Q. Lu, M. Reece, and Z.-Z. Xianyu, "Missing scalars at the cosmological collider," JHEP 12 (2021) 098, arXiv:2108.11385 [hep-ph].
- [35] D. Marolf and I. A. Morrison, "The IR stability of de Sitter: Loop corrections to scalar propagators," *Phys. Rev. D* 82 (2010) 105032, arXiv:1006.0035 [gr-qc].
- [36] B. Allen, "Vacuum States in de Sitter Space," Phys. Rev. D 32 (1985) 3136.
- [37] A. A. Starobinsky, "Stochastic de Sitter (Inflationary) Stage in the Early Universe," Lect. Notes Phys. 246 (1986) 107–126.
- [38] A. Rajaraman, "On the proper treatment of massless fields in Euclidean de Sitter space," Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 123522, arXiv:1008.1271 [hep-th].

- [39] S. Hollands, "Massless interacting quantum fields in deSitter spacetime," Annales Henri Poincare 13 (2012) 1039–1081, arXiv:1105.1996 [gr-qc].
- [40] M. Beneke and P. Moch, "On "dynamical mass" generation in Euclidean de Sitter space," Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 064018, arXiv:1212.3058 [hep-th].
- [41] C. P. Burgess, L. Leblond, R. Holman, and S. Shandera, "Super-Hubble de Sitter Fluctuations and the Dynamical RG," JCAP 03 (2010) 033, arXiv:0912.1608 [hep-th].
- [42] C. P. Burgess, R. Holman, L. Leblond, and S. Shandera, "Breakdown of Semiclassical Methods in de Sitter Space," JCAP 10 (2010) 017, arXiv:1005.3551 [hep-th].
- [43] X. Chen, Y. Wang, and Z.-Z. Xianyu, "Loop Corrections to Standard Model Fields in Inflation," JHEP 08 (2016) 051, arXiv:1604.07841 [hep-th].
- [44] D. López Nacir, F. D. Mazzitelli, and L. G. Trombetta, "O(N) model in Euclidean de Sitter space: beyond the leading infrared approximation," *JHEP* **09** (2016) 117, arXiv:1606.03481 [hep-th].
- [45] V. Gorbenko and L. Senatore, " $\lambda \phi^4$ in dS," arXiv:1911.00022 [hep-th].
- [46] M. Mirbabayi, "Infrared dynamics of a light scalar field in de Sitter," JCAP 12 (2020) 006, arXiv:1911.00564 [hep-th].
- [47] M. Mirbabayi, "Markovian dynamics in de Sitter," JCAP 09 (2021) 038, arXiv:2010.06604 [hep-th].
- [48] T. Cohen and D. Green, "Soft de Sitter Effective Theory," JHEP 12 (2020) 041, arXiv:2007.03693 [hep-th].
- [49] M. Baumgart and R. Sundrum, "Manifestly Causal In-In Perturbation Theory about the Interacting Vacuum," JHEP 03 (2021) 080, arXiv:2010.10785 [hep-th].
- [50] T. Cohen, D. Green, A. Premkumar, and A. Ridgway, "Stochastic Inflation at NNLO," JHEP 09 (2021) 159, arXiv:2106.09728 [hep-th].
- [51] D. Marolf and I. A. Morrison, "The IR stability of de Sitter QFT: results at all orders," Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 044040, arXiv:1010.5327 [gr-qc].
- [52] A. Higuchi, D. Marolf, and I. A. Morrison, "On the Equivalence between Euclidean and In-In Formalisms in de Sitter QFT," Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 084029, arXiv:1012.3415 [gr-qc].
- [53] S. Hollands, "Correlators, Feynman diagrams, and quantum no-hair in deSitter spacetime," Commun. Math. Phys. 319 (2013) 1-68, arXiv:1010.5367 [gr-qc].
- [54] A. Higuchi and W. C. C. Lima, "Hartle-Hawking state in the real-time formalism," Phys. Rev. D 105 no. 4, (2022) 045002, arXiv:2107.10271 [gr-qc].
- [55] S. P. Miao, P. J. Mora, N. C. Tsamis, and R. P. Woodard, "Perils of analytic continuation," *Phys. Rev. D* 89 no. 10, (2014) 104004, arXiv:1306.5410 [gr-qc].
- [56] M. Correia, A. Sever, and A. Zhiboedov, "An analytical toolkit for the S-matrix bootstrap," JHEP 03 (2021) 013, arXiv:2006.08221 [hep-th].
- [57] M. Hogervorst, J. a. Penedones, and K. S. Vaziri, "Towards the non-perturbative cosmological bootstrap," JHEP 02 (2023) 162, arXiv:2107.13871 [hep-th].
- [58] L. Di Pietro, V. Gorbenko, and S. Komatsu, "Analyticity and unitarity for cosmological correlators," JHEP 03 (2022) 023, arXiv:2108.01695 [hep-th].
- [59] M. Loparco, J. Penedones, K. Salehi Vaziri, and Z. Sun, "The Källén-Lehmann representation in de Sitter spacetime," arXiv:2306.00090 [hep-th].

- [60] V. N. Gribov, The theory of complex angular momenta: Gribov lectures on theoretical physics. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 6, 2007.
- [61] R. Newton, Scattering Theory of Waves and Particles. Dover Books on Physics. Dover Publications, 2002.
- [62] M. Spradlin, A. Strominger, and A. Volovich, "Les Houches lectures on de Sitter space," in Les Houches Summer School: Session 76: Euro Summer School on Unity of Fundamental Physics: Gravity, Gauge Theory and Strings, pp. 423–453. 10, 2001. arXiv:hep-th/0110007.
- [63] D. Anninos, "De Sitter Musings," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1230013, arXiv:1205.3855 [hep-th].
- [64] F. Gautier and J. Serreau, "Infrared dynamics in de Sitter space from Schwinger-Dyson equations," *Phys. Lett. B* 727 (2013) 541-547, arXiv:1305.5705 [hep-th].
- [65] L. Slater, Generalized Hypergeometric Functions. Cambridge University Press, 1966.
- [66] L. Durand, P. M. Fishbane, and J. Simmons, L. M., "Expansion formulas and addition theorems for Gegenbauer functions," *Journal of Mathematical Physics* 17 no. 11, (08, 1976) 1933–1948. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.522831.
- [67] V. A. Smirnov, "Evaluating Feynman integrals," Springer Tracts Mod. Phys. 211 (2004) 1–244.
- [68] C. Sleight, "A Mellin Space Approach to Cosmological Correlators," JHEP 01 (2020) 090, arXiv:1906.12302 [hep-th].
- [69] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, "Bootstrapping Inflationary Correlators in Mellin Space," JHEP 02 (2020) 098, arXiv:1907.01143 [hep-th].
- [70] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, "From dS to AdS and back," JHEP 12 (2021) 074, arXiv:2109.02725 [hep-th].
- [71] A. Premkumar, "Regulating Loops in dS," arXiv:2110.12504 [hep-th].
- [72] H. Kleinert and V. Schulte-Frohlinde, Critical properties of φ^4 -theories. 2001.